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AND COMMITTEES 2017
USANZ Board of Directors

Special Advisory Group (SAG) Leaders

Peter Heathcote: President, Northern Section
Representative

Eric Chung (Andrology)

Stephen Mark: Vice-President, New Zealand
Section Representative

Vincent Tse (Functional and Female Urology)

Mark Frydenberg: Past-President, Honorary
Secretary, Honorary Treasurer, Victoria Section
Rep, RACS Urology Specialty Representative
Kim Moretti: Policy Chair, South Australia /
Northern Territory Section Representative
Melvyn Kuan: Chair TA&E, Western Australia
Representative
Frank Redwig: Tasmanian Section Representative
Karen McKertich: Chair, ANZAUS

John Kourambas (Endourology)
Peter Chin (Male Lower Urinary Tract)
Shomik Sengupta (Genitourinary Oncology)
Grahame Smith (Paediatric and
Reconstructive Urology)

Mesh Sub-committee
Caroline Dowling: Chair
Peter Chin
Peter Heathcote

Tyrone Carlin: External Director

Karen McKertich

Mohamed Khadra: New South Wales Section
Representative (appointed 6 May 2017)

Michael Nugara
Prem Rashid

Andrew Brooks: RACS Urology Specialty
Representative (resigned 6 May 2017)

Vincent Tse

David Winkle: (resigned 24 February 2017)

USANZ Investment Committee
Chair / USANZ Treasurer: Mark Frydenberg
USANZ External Director: Tyrone Carlin
USANZ Board appointee: Andrew Brooks

USANZ Society Awards
Nominations Committee
Chair / USANZ Past-President: Mark Frydenberg
Vice-President: Stephen Mark
USANZ Director: none appointed in 2017 as no
nominations received.

Registry Implementation Committee
Stephen Mark: Chair
Mark Frydenberg
David Winkle
Simon Wood
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Michael Nugara: Chief Executive Officer
Deborah Klein: Education & Training Manager
Jan Shaw: Events & Communications Manager
Katie Cook: Accounts Officer (part-time)
Kirsten Isaacs: Training Administrator (part-time)
Madeleine Bennison: Governance & Secretariat
Coordinator
Nick Danes: Chief Operating Officer (USANZ
and ANZSCTS)
Vaughan Parkinson: Chief Finance Officer (part-time)
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From left to right: Michael Nugara (CEO), Mark Frydenberg (Past-President), Karen McKertich,
Stephen Mark (Vice-President), Peter Heathcote (President), Kim Moretti, Melvyn Kuan.
Absent: Frank Redwig, Mohamed Khadra, Tyrone Carlin

Vision
The Society’s vision is to continue to work for its community
to ensure the best access to the quality urological care its
members provide.

Mission
The Urological Society of Australia and New Zealand
is committed to clinical excellence, education, and the
promotion of research and the dissemination of information
on urological topics for the benefit of the community.

Values
•

Excellence in professional standards

•

Ethical standards of the highest order

•

Patient safety
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1 February 2018

To all Members
Your Board of Directors has pleasure in submitting its report for the year ending
31 December 2017.
Yours sincerely,

Peter Heathcote
President
Urological Society of Australia and New Zealand

P: +61 2 9362 8644 F: +61 2 9362 1433
Suite 512 Eastpoint, 180 Ocean Street, Edgecliff, NSW 2027, Australia
www.usanz.org.au
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President’s Report
Peter Heathcote
Dear Colleagues and Friends,
USANZ, as the peak representative body for
urologists and our nursing and research partners
in Australia and New Zealand, has achieved a lot
in 2017 but sees continuing challenges and new
issues arise.
A major achievement this year has been the
adoption of a Board Charter and a three year
Strategic Plan. These were developed over the
last three years and included weekend seminars
involving the Board of Directors and Section
representatives regarding good governance
principles, delegation of authority and,
importantly, the structure and function of USANZ
and the Sections. Whilst the major function of
individual Sections within USANZ is convening
of their Annual Section Meeting, they are also
the first contact point for many of our members
and trainees and continue to be an integral part
of the organisation. I and members of the Board
and our CEO Michael Nugara attended all the
Section meetings and I wish to emphasise our
view that a strong USANZ requires strong and
active Sections.
We continue to engage with international
societies and I am excited to tell you that
USANZ has been short listed to host the 19th
Urological Association of Asia Congress 2021.
You will recall that during David Winkle’s tenure,
we were admitted to full membership of the
Urological Association of Asia (UAA) and now
David is heading the USANZ delegation for
the UAA bid. We have put a great bid together
and will be presenting at the UAA Congress in
Kyoto in April. You will also note a large Korean
delegation to the Melbourne ASM in February.
Please make them welcome as they did us when
we visited for their ASM in Seoul in September.
Our engagement with the EAU, AUA, BAUS
and SIU continues. I am also pleased to report
that over 86% of USANZ members have now
signed up to the BJUI Knowledge (BJUIK)

program. During 2018 we plan to survey all
members regarding member benefits seeking
your views on the usefulness of BJUIK as well
as memberships of international urological
associations and the resources they offer.
We are also developing closer ties with
organisations within Australia and New
Zealand. PCOR ANZ, the binational prostate
cancer outcomes registry, has asked USANZ
to develop quality assurance and outlier
protocols. USANZ strongly supports the
ethical collection of accurate, valid data. The
approach to outliers, be they individuals or
institutions, will be as requested, and then in a
supportive mentorship role.
We continue to engage with the Prostate Cancer
Foundation of Australia (PCFA) and Movember
and hope to develop education tools regarding
the recently adopted PSA guidelines. We are
waiting for RACGP to respond to our requests
for active engagement in this endeavour.
Financial toxicity and excessive billing remain
issues and we will partner with PCFA and RACS
in addressing these matters. This brings the
surgical variance issues to mind. We continue
to work with RACS in an effort to avoid the
difficulties associated with the publication of
previous variance reports. The Board of USANZ
supports audit and clear and transparent
publication of accurate ethically collected, risk
adjusted surgical outcomes. We are quickly
discovering as have our sister organisations
in the northern hemisphere that this is an
expensive and time consuming process.
Nonetheless we believe it is a worthy activity. I
see this as a major challenge to us as individuals
and to all of us as an organisation. There have
been further delays with the implementation of
the nephrectomy registry pilot and this relates
to the ethics approval process. We hope that
this will be finalised in early 2018.
The Special Advisory Groups (SAGs) continue to
be a valuable resource for USANZ. In particular
I would like to thank the Functional and Female
Urology SAG (FUSAG) and the Oncology
USANZ | 2017 Annual Report
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SAG for valuable advice and input this year.
The FUSAG has been particularly active in
responding to the senate enquiry into pelvic
mesh and ongoing credentialing issues.
This year we will see the Commonwealth
Government MBS item number review examine
urology. Significant work has already been
completed in preparation for the review but more
lies ahead! Streamlining of item groups seems a
priority. We are taking the opportunity to update
descriptors and modernise the item number list.
We are also hopeful that an mpMRI prostate item
number will become a reality in 2018.
I would like to thank my colleagues on the
Board and in particular the leadership group of
President Elect Stephen Mark, Past-President
Mark Frydenberg and CEO Michael Nugara. I
never ceased to be impressed by the work ethic
of my leadership group colleagues and the staff
at Edgecliff headquarters.
No doubt the coming twelve months will throw
up more challenges and issues and hopefully
when I report to you this time next year I can
again list further achievements and progress. I
wish you well for the upcoming ASM and look
forward to catching up with as many of you as I
possibly can over the next twelve months. We
are at your service.

In 2017 a considerable amount of work was carried
out to improve governance. Whilst this will be
ongoing in 2018, there were significant changes
made to the structure of Board reports and meetings
to allow the Board to focus on key strategic issues
rather than operational matters. These changes,
coupled with the development of a Board Charter
outlining the various roles, responsibilities and
authorities within the Board, has been put in place to
assist the Board meet its governance obligations.
Policy development also increased in 2017 as it was
recognised that this area of the business needed
additional focus. Whilst progress was made in 2017,
a number of policies have been earmarked for
development in 2018. Some of the new policies are
linked to the proposed constitutional amendments
that will be put to the membership at the Annual
General Meeting in February. This first round of
constitutional amendments focusses on managing
membership categories more efficiently whilst also
focussing the role of the Board. The explanatory
notes on this proposal can be found in the AGM
papers at the rear of the Annual Report. It is pleasing
to acknowledge the enormous contribution by
Madeleine Bennison, Governance and Secretariat
Coordinator, to the work we’re doing to improve
governance.
The Board approved the procurement of a new
business system in 2017 with implementation
beginning in 2018. To date, USANZ has been using
a number of outdated and inefficient systems to
manage member data, financial records and web
based functions. After a thorough search of the
available platforms, USANZ selected Association
Membership Software (AMS) as the preferred
supplier. The AMS product will replace existing
systems and provide a fully integrated platform
improving efficiencies, not only for staff, but also for
members to update details, pay subscriptions and
register for events. To date, the staff have invested
a significant amount of time in this project and that
will increase in 2018 as the system implementation is
planned and rolled out.

.
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USANZ signed a Memorandum of Understanding
(MoU) with the Korean Urological Association
(KUA) in September 2017. This was a significant
milestone for USANZ as we build our profile within
the Urological Association of Asia (UAA). The MoU
focusses on the development of joint educational
initiatives.
Progress with the implementation of the Registry
has been slow. The nephrectomy registry pilot
has not commenced as yet as the ethics approval
process has been difficult to progress. We anticipate
finalisation of this process in early 2018 and
commencement of patient data being entered into
the registry shortly after.
The 2017 ASM held at the National Convention
Centre in Canberra was a great success. The nation’s
capital was a fantastic destination for the 70th ASM.
The quality of the local and international faculty, the
standard of science and diversity in the program
were well received by the delegates. Attendance was
marginally lower than the 2016 ASM.
The work carried out by the Convenor, Nathan
Lawrentschuk and Scientific Program Director,
Shomik Sengupta, was reflected by a world class
scientific program and memorable social events at
iconic venues, we thank them for their efforts. Much
of the success of the ASM is also attributable to the
USANZ Events and Communications Manager, Jan
Shaw, who worked tirelessly to deliver a great event.
The reception at the 2017 AUA was held on Monday
15 May in Boston. This highly successful event
continues to grow in stature and has created an
opportunity for USANZ members and trainees to
network with internationally recognised urologists
from around the globe, whilst also significantly raising
the profile of USANZ. The reception included the
launch of the 2018 ASM.
USANZ has been advised by the AUA that from
2018, the duration of their meeting will be reduced
to four days finishing on Monday 21 May instead.
Since the USANZ reception was introduced in 2012,
it has always been held on the Monday of the AUA
meeting, however in 2018, the reception will be held
on Friday 18 May.

The BAUS – BJUI - USANZ symposium at the AUA
was held on Sunday 14 May and included the
presentation of the Christchurch Medal (for service to
the community) to Catherine DeVries.
The BJUI USANZ Supplement continues to provide
members with a high quality journal tailored for
USANZ. This online publication is edited by Nathan
Lawrentschuk and we are grateful for his continued
commitment to this role.
USANZ investigated options for the provision of
patient information sheets to members and the
general public via the USANZ website. Work is
continuing on this initiative and we are considering
partnering with another association who already
has a library of information sheets with a view to
securing access to “co-branded” information sheets.
The partnership is likely to include the provision of
resources to assist with review of existing, and the
development of new, patient information sheets.
The second Functional Urology Symposium (FUS)
was held in Melbourne on 29-30 July 2017, attracting
163 delegates. Attendance at the 2017 FUS increased
by more than 50 percent when compared to the first
FUS held in 2015. The convenors, Henry Woo and
Vincent Tse, developed an excellent program and
I would like to acknowledge their combined effort.
They received expert support from Jan Shaw who
managed the event. In 2019, FUS will be held in
conjunction with the Pan Pacific Continence Society
meeting.
In 2017 the Board of Urology (BoU) continued their
outstanding work in the administration of the training
program. The high standard of the program was
reflected by favourable comments by the Australian
Medical Council (AMC) following their review of
RACS. The Society is grateful for the considerable
effort by the BoU and the various TA&E committees.
Members sacrifice their personal time for the benefit
of the training program and the next generation of
urologists, none more so than the BoU Chair, Melvyn
Kuan. As Melvyn’s term as BoU Chair concludes in
February, I would like to extend my thanks for his
enthusiasm and commitment to the role. Melvyn and
the BoU (as well as TA&E committees) have received
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exceptional support from Deborah Klein, Education
and Training Manager and Kirsten Isaacs, Training
Administrator. I would also like to acknowledge
their passion and commitment to the delivery of the
training program.
Trainee Week was held in Melbourne and was again a
very well planned and executed event. Thanks to the
convenor, Rob Forsyth and his scientific committee
for an outstanding program. The logistics were once
again managed impeccably by Deborah Klein, who
along with Kirsten Isaacs, ensured the meeting was
of the highest standard. In addition to those already
acknowledged, the success of this event was reliant
upon the personal sacrifice and generosity of time
of all those members involved in the planning and
delivery of the program.
The USANZ service agreement with ANZSCTS
(Australian and New Zealand Society of Cardiac and
Thoracic Surgeons) for the provision of administrative
support services was renewed in late 2017 for a
further five years. The ANZSCTS Board has been very
pleased with the services provided by USANZ and
since management services commenced, ANZSCTS
has established a solid financial base and its
governance structure is robust. ANZSCTS continues
to grow and much of the credit for this rests with the
USANZ Chief Operating Officer, Nick Danes, whose
enduring efforts continue to deliver exceptional
service to ANZSCTS.
2017 was another busy year for USANZ in the
media and our office bearers have been promoting
awareness of urological issues and treatment options,
but importantly, ensuring the collective voice of
the membership is heard. The campaign by certain
radiation oncologists who have been providing
misleading information about cancer treatment
options was amplified by the Department of Veteran
Affairs (DVA) who published an article with a similar
message to that being pushed by the particular
radiation oncologists. Whilst letters were sent to
the Minister and DVA News, the response has been
disappointing. A meeting was held with the DVA
Principal Medical Advisor (and author of the article)
Prof Ian Gardner, but it remains to be seen whether
future articles present balanced opinions or if our
offers of assistance are taken up. Again in 2017, the
7
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USANZ Media Advisor, Edwina Gatenby provided
USANZ with exceptional services.
The 2018 Annual General Meeting (AGM) will see
the conclusion of Kim Moretti’s term as Chair of the
Policy Committee and SA Section representative
on the Board. Members would be aware of the
proposed constitutional amendment to discontinue
the Policy Chair role on the Board (refer to the AGM
agenda and supporting documents at the rear of the
annual report) and I would like to acknowledge Kim’s
contribution to the success of USANZ during the six
years he has served on the Board. The AGM will also
see the retirement of Frank Redwig as the Tasmanian
Section representative, and we also thank Frank for
his contribution.
The External Director Prof Tyrone Carlin has been
a great asset to the Board. Tyrone’s insights and
business acumen have been enormously valuable
and we are most grateful for his commitment
to USANZ and look forward to his continued
contribution.
I wish to acknowledge the work carried out by the
other members of the Board of Directors: a highly
committed group of individuals who sacrifice their
personal time for the benefit of USANZ and its
members. It has been a pleasure to work with the
Board and I look forward to this continuing under
the leadership of Peter Heathcote during his second
year as President. Peter has been generous with his
time and always willing to juggle his busy schedule to
attend meetings and discuss issues. I am particularly
grateful for his wise counsel.
The Board established a sub-committee to address
the Senate enquiry into transvaginal mesh implants.
The sub-committee has done a huge amount of work
and we are grateful to the Chair, Caroline Dowling,
Vincent Tse and other members of the
sub-committee for their contributions to this work.
The role of the Special Advisory Groups (SAG)
continues to be of importance to USANZ and
our ability to address scientific issues both in the
public domain and internally. The respective SAG
leaders contribute in several ways during the
year including: assisting with the development of
position statements; assisting the ASM organising
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committee; and being interviewed in the media when
the President is unavailable. We acknowledge their
contribution.
In late 2017 USANZ held the first Section
Chairs meeting to address issues and improve
communication between the Board and the Sections.
Whilst the focus was on Australian based Sections
due to legislative compliance obligations, it is
intended that this meeting will occur annually at the
ASM and all Section Chairs will be invited to attend.
The Board is keen to improve communications with
the members and wants to work with Section Chairs
in this endeavour.
2017 marked 80 years since USANZ was established.
From humble beginnings, USANZ has grown to
become a highly respected organisation domestically
and internationally and we continue to work to
build on what has been achieved to date. This has
been accomplished through the commitment and
generosity of members, who give of their time on a
pro bono basis for the benefit of USANZ and urology
more broadly. These members receive support from
the USANZ staff that is second to none. The USANZ
office comprises a small team of highly committed
individuals who manage to work through an ever
increasing volume of tasks with the aim of serving
the membership. Their dedication and tireless efforts
have contributed enormously to the success of
USANZ. I wish to express my sincere thanks to Jan
Shaw, Deborah Klein, Vaughan Parkinson, Madeleine
Bennison, Nick Danes, Kirsten Isaacs and Katie Cook.

Secretary’s Report 2017
Mark Frydenberg
The Board of Directors of the Society met during
2017 as follows:
•

28 January 2017 – Teleconference

•

23 February 2017 – Canberra ASM, ACT

•

6 May 2017 – USANZ Office, Sydney

•

4 July 2017 – Circular Resolution

•

19 August 2017 – USANZ Office, Sydney

•

25 November 2017 – USANZ Office, Sydney

Directors also attended a governance training
meeting on 18 August 2017 in Sydney.
The following Director roles and tenure periods are
identified in the USANZ Constitution.
•

President – 2 terms of 1 year each

•

Vice-President – 2 terms of 1 year each

•

Past-President / Honorary Treasurer / Honorary
Secretary – 2 terms of 1 year each

•

ANZAUS Chair – 2 terms of 3 years each

•

Board of Urology Chair – 1 term of 2 years

•

Speciality Elected Royal Australasian College
of Surgeons (RACS) Councillor (RACS
Councillor) – 3 terms of 3 years each

•

Sectional Representatives – 2 terms of
3 years each

•

2x External Directors – 2 terms of 3 years each.

Membership
Since the last Annual Report, the following changes
have occurred:
Awarded Fellow of the Society
Andrew Brooks
Full Member
Akbar Ashrafi
William Bowes
Jason Du
Martin Elmes
USANZ | 2017 Annual Report
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Daniel Gilbourd

Luke Gibson

Gregory Jack

Jada Kapoor

Arman Kahokehr

Daniel McConnell

Michael Lozinsky

Alice McLachlan

Angus Lecuona

Michael Myint

Philip McCahy

Sunny Nalavenkata

Anojan Navaratnam

Lovelace Osei-Tutu

Bradley Newell

Jay Roberts

Helen Nicholson

Aditya Sharma

Sarah Norton

Amila Siriwardana

Adam Pearce

Deanne Soares

Timothy Smith

Associate Member – Urological

Stephen Strahan

Sarah Giutronich

Philip Tan

Simon Pridgeon

James Thompson

Nicholas Rukin

Courtenay West

Associate Scientific Member

Matthew Winter
Teck Sing Woon
Alexander Yeates
Full Member Senior
Agnelo F De Sousa (30 years as member)
Lawrence Hayden (30 years as member)
Mark Morrissey (retired)
John Paul Smith (retired)
Provisional Member
Richard Cetti
Antonios Makris
Trainee Member
Daman Bhatia
Anthony Dat
Ankur Dhar
Deborah Friberg
Cindy Garcia
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Cessation of Membership

Sudheshan Sundaralingam (FM)

Chong Won Bak (CO)

James Thompson (FMO)

John Boulas (FM)

Guy Toner (AMM)

Phillip Brenner (FM)

David Westmore (FMS)

John Cassey (AUM)

John Wheelahan (FMS)

Judith Clements (ASM)

Alan Woodward (AMM)

Michael Cresswell (FM)

Deaths

Farshad Foroudi (AMM)

Geoffrey John Buckham

Kieran Hart (FM)

Terence Morgan

Francis Lee (FMO)

James O’Collins

Vianney George McGirr (FM)

Darracott Vaughan

Andrew See (AMM)

Stanley Watson

Pawan Singhal (TM)

Rahil Nagpal

Robin Spork (FMS)
USANZ Membership by Classification
Dec 17

Dec 16

Dec 15

Dec 14

% inc (dec) since 2014

Associate Members
(AMM, ASM)

24

25

31

32

-25%

Full Members & AUM (Fel,
FM, FMO, FMR)

492

491

482

443

11%

Full Member Seniors

75

84

84

89

-16%

Provisional Members

3

3

1

3

0%

Trainees

106

111

111

113

-6%

Other (HM, CO)

25

25

28

31

-19%

Total Members

725

739

737

711

2%
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Treasurer’s Report
Mark Frydenberg
Following in 2016’s footsteps USANZ’s total
revenue remained strong and increased in 2017.
There were increases in total expenses attributed
to the increased uptake of member benefits in
the form of free Society funded subscriptions to
overseas bodies (to EAU and BJUI Knowledge);
increased urological registry costs; staffing and
consultancy attributable to a review of USANZ
governance processes and policies; travel and
conference costs attributable to the holding of the
FUS event and a continuation of USANZ’s social
media presence. The PRIAS project funded by
Australian Urological Foundation ceased in June
2017. The 2017 ASM was held in Canberra and was
successful. Investment incomes increased overall
in 2017 primarily due to the increase in value of
market linked investments.

Operations
USANZ generated an operating surplus of
$589,741.82 for 2017. This result is less than last
year’s surplus of $598,587.28 by $8,845.46, and
suggests that while USANZ enjoyed a strong
total revenue, it also effectively managed
increased costs during the 2017 year.
ASM 2017 total revenue was $1,650,999.10
which was less than ASM 2016 total revenue of
$1,778,529.84 by $127,530.74. ASM 2017 total
expenses of $1,231,276.42 were lower that ASM
2016 total expense of $1,252,587.35 by $21,310.93.
The 2017 ASM returned a surplus of $419,722.68
and was less than the 2016 ASM surplus by
$106,219.81 and confirms the two trends that are
now taking hold in the market and that USANZ
continues to face. The decline in revenues reflects
the competitive market for sponsorship support
as well as the amount of funding made available
by industry. USANZ also faced competition for
sponsorship support from an increasing number of
non-USANZ meetings. This is expected to continue
again in 2018. While the 2017 ASM continued
USANZ’s delivery of a world class event and forum
for presenting scientific content, to sustain the

11
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quality and delivery of this annual flagship event
at differing locations, USANZ is likely to face
increasing venue, accommodation and travel costs.
Overall 2017 revenue increased by $129,566.23
over 2016. Increases in operating revenue from
operating activities, were attributable primarily
to the Functional Urology Symposium held in
July 2017 with contributions made from increases
in membership fees, SET Fees and a marginal
increase from investment incomes arising from
an increased valuation of the market linked
investment holdings. The increases in operating
revenues were offset by reduced sponsorship
revenues from the ASM, and marginal reduction in
receipts from section meetings over the 2016 year.
As in previous years, event expenses were
managed in line with changes in sponsorship and
registration revenues.
2017 total expenses of $3,925,949.51 were higher
than 2016 total expenses of $3,787,537.82 by
$138,411.69.

Education and Operations expenditures:
Education and Operations expenditure increased
in 2017 and was $50,524.54 higher than for 2016.
The increase in expenditure can be attributed to
the holding of the Functional Urology Symposium.
Office and Administration costs:
Office and Administration expenses increased
overall in 2017 and were $62,908.60 higher than 2016.
There were cost increases experienced in
providing member benefits (i.e. EAU and BJUI
Knowledge subscriptions); consultancy costs
attributable to the review of USANZ governance,
policies and increased IT costs attributable to
operations in the cloud. The increased costs were
offset marginally by decreases in printing and
stationery costs due to the change from paper
based formats to electronic delivery.

Financial Position
In 2017 USANZ continued close supervision of its
cash management activity. Non-interest bearing
bank accounts were funded only when needed so
that residual cash remained in Australian interest
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bearing bank accounts until required. The value
of USANZ’s market linked portfolio investments
increased over the 2016 year due to a favourable
market valuation.
Total assets increased by 3.56% from
$13,954,376.96 to $14,451,768.84 over the 2016
year; an increase of $497,391.88. The increase
in total assets is attributable to an increase in
interest earning funds and at call cash.
At 31 December 2017, the Society’s interest
earning assets were $10,976,103.29 compared to
$10,223,818.80 at the same time last year. This
represents an increase of $752,284.49 in interest
earning funds held in bank accounts over the year.
Receivables were lower at the 2017 balance date
by $75,602.34. There was a 15.08 day reduction
in the average collection days for receivables
attributable to the Society’s vigilant supervision
of credit control over the 2017 year.
The total liabilities decreased by 3.69% from
$2,505,043.13 to $2,412,693.19 reflecting a
reduction in balances marginally offset by an
increase in provisions as balance date, when
compared to the prior year.
The current asset / liability mix (the Society’s ability
to meet short term commitments) increased over
the year from 5.3 times to 5.8 times cover. The
Society has always maintained a strong current
asset / liability mix and it is expected to continue
to remain strong after the ASM has been held in
February 2018.
The market value of the Society’s investment
holdings increased by $58,024.47 attributable to
a 5.95% increase in the valuation to market of the
Society’s market linked investments.

Cash Flow
Net cash from operating activities has decreased
by $1,018,094.20 from $1,403,932.88 in 2016 to
$385,838.68 in 2017. The decrease in net cash
flow from operating activities can be attributed
to a reduction in payables; a reduction in
section revenues; a slower uptake in 2017 ASM
registrations received in advance and increases in
payments made to suppliers.

Overall
Members should be pleased with the 2017
performance; and the supervision and
accountability of the USANZ management team.
USANZ has an on-going mission to sustain the
quality and delivery of its events, and particularly
the flagship ASM event. USANZ faces the
challenge of continuing to attract financial support
from industry in a market already saturated by other
similar entities seeking funding for their respective
events from the same industry participants.
In 2017 USANZ continued its funding of
member benefits and initiatives, including EAU
membership, BJUI Knowledge; and the further
development of a urological surgery registry.
USANZ investment income from the returns on
its earning assets face an uncertain investment
environment in 2018, both in terms of the rate of
investment return and capital security. USANZ’s
strategy is to improve its investment incomes
from its investable assets but at the same time
maintain the capital security of those assets.
The USANZ Board established an Investment
Committee with the objective to produce and
sustain better investment returns with an eye
to ensuring capital security. The committee will
continue its role of reviewing the market for
better, and risk adjusted capital, returns in 2018.
The potential full uptake of member benefits,
the maintenance of the registry, the increased
costs of maintaining the quality of the ASM
and the uncertain investment environment may
adversely affect USANZ’s 2018 performance and,
consequently, its trend performance thereafter.
USANZ will continue its policy that member
subscriptions will be adjusted to take account
for the consumer price index. Cost growth is
expected to be contained in line with the CPI
trend in overall terms. However, it should be
noted that USANZ cost structures are also under
stress from adapting to a changing market place.
I would like to take this opportunity to acknowledge
Michael Nugara, Nick Danes and Vaughan
Parkinson for their contribution in 2017 and the rest
of the USANZ staff for their support during the year.
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F I NA N C IA L R E P ORT S
The Urological Society of Australia and New Zealand
ACN: 000 069 376
Directors Report
Your directors present their report on The Urological Society of Australia and New
Zealand (the Society) for the financial year ended 31 December 2017.
The names of the directors in office at any time during or since the end of the year are:
Andrew Brooks **
Stephen Mark
Peter Heathcote
Frank Redwig
Mark Frydenberg
Mohamed Khadra

Date of appointment
23-Mar-10
18-Mar-14

13-Apr-15
13-Apr-15
12-Apr-13
06-May-17

Kim Moretti
Karen McKertich
David Winkle*
Tyrone Carlin
Melvyn Kuan

Date of appointment
24-Apr-12
16-Apr-16

23-Mar-10
20-Feb-16
16-Apr-16

* Director's tenure finished 24 February 2017
** Director's tenure finished 6 May 2017
The profit of the Society for the financial year was $589,741.82 ($598,587.28 - 2016)
The Society is exempt from payment of income tax under section 23(e) of the Income Tax
Assessment Act.
The principal activities of the Society during the year were the advancement of the science
of urology through the promotion and finance of research in urology and the bringing
together of urologists of Australia and New Zealand to cultivate and maintain the highest
principles of urological practice and ethics.
The Society is also responsible for the selection, training and assessment of urology
registrars according to the Memorandum of Understanding with the Royal Australasian
College of Surgeons.
No significant change in the nature of these activities or the Society's state of affairs occurred
during the year.
No matters or circumstances have arisen since the end of the financial year which
significantly affected or may significantly affect the operations of the society, the
results of those operations, or the state of affairs of the Society in future financial years.
The Society expects to maintain the present status and level of operations and hence
there are no likely developments for reporting.
The Society is a not for profit entity limited by guarantee and is therefore prohibited from
declaring any dividends.
The Society's operations are not regulated by any significant environmental regulation
under a law of the Commonwealth or of a state or territory.
During the year the Society has paid insurance premiums for Directors' Liability.
No person has applied for leave of Court to bring proceedings on behalf of the Society
or intervene in any proceedings to which the company is a party for the purpose of
taking reponsibility on behalf of the company for all or any part of those proceedings.
The Society was not a party to any such proceedings during the year.
Auditor's Independence Declaration
A copy of the auditor's independence declaration as required under section 307C of
the Corporations Act 2001 is set out on the following page.
Signed in accordance with a resolution of the Board of Directors.
On behalf of the Board of Directors:

……………………………..
President
dated 25 January 2018
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F I NA N C IA L R E P ORT S
The Urological Society of Australia and New Zealand
ACN: 000 069 376
Directors' Declaration
The directors have determined that the company is not a reporting entity and that this special
purpose financial report should be prepared in accordance with the accounting policies
described in Note 1 to the financial statements.
The directors of the company declare that:
1. The financial statements and notes are in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001:
(a) comply with Accounting Standards applicable to the company; and
(b) give a true and fair view of the company's financial position as at 31 December 2017
and of its performance for the year ended on that date in accordance with the
accounting policies described in Note 1 to the accounts;
2. In the directors' opinion there are reasonable grounds to believe that the company will
be able to pay its debts as and when they become due and payable.
This declaration is made in accordance with a resolution of the Board of Directors.

……………………………..
President
dated 25 January 2018
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F I NA N C IA L R E P ORT S
The Urological Society of Australia and New Zealand
ACN: 000 069 376
Statement of Comprehensive Income
For the Year Ended 31 December 2017
note
2

Operating Revenue
Total Revenue
Less:
Office and Administration Costs
Meetings and Workshops
Section Expenses
Education and Operations Expenditure
Other Expenses
Total Expenses
Surplus for the period

3

2017
$
4,515,691.33

4,386,125.10

4,515,691.33

4,386,125.10

(1,281,663.06)
(1,231,276.42)
(503,522.54)
(794,350.30)
(115,137.19)
(3,925,949.51)

(1,218,754.46)
(1,252,587.35)
(472,779.08)
(743,825.76)
(99,591.17)
(3,787,537.82)

589,741.82

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements
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2016
$

598,587.28

F I NA N C IA L R E P ORT S
The Urological Society of Australia and New Zealand
ACN: 000 069 376
Statement of Financial Position
As at 31 December 2017
note

2017
$

2016
$

CURRENT ASSETS
Cash Assets
Receivables
Investments
Other
TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS

4
5
6
7

11,210,354.68
544,736.50
1,033,968.35
472,561.71
13,261,621.24

10,848,780.52
620,338.84
975,943.88
305,254.64
12,750,317.88

NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Land and Buildings
Plant & Equipment
TOTAL NON-CURRENT ASSETS

8
8

1,132,605.92
57,541.68
1,190,147.60

1,141,125.47
62,933.61
1,204,059.08

14,451,768.84

13,954,376.96

TOTAL ASSETS
CURRENT LIABILITIES
Payables
Provisions
Other
TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES

9
10
11

645,413.37
122,286.00
1,533,673.82
2,301,373.19

765,981.79
96,234.00
1,543,519.34
2,405,735.13

NON CURRENT LIABILITIES
Provisions
TOTAL NON CURRENT LIABILITIES

10

111,320.00
111,320.00

99,308.00
99,308.00

2,412,693.19

2,505,043.13

NET ASSETS

12,039,075.65

11,449,333.83

EQUITY
Revaluation Reserve
Retained Surpluses
TOTAL EQUITY

318,398.47
11,720,677.18
12,039,075.65

318,398.47
11,130,935.36
11,449,333.83

TOTAL LIABILITIES

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements
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F I NA N C IA L R E P ORT S
The Urological Society of Australia and New Zealand
ACN: 000 069 376
Statement of Changes in Equity
For the Year Ended 31 December 2017

note

Retained Surpluses

Revaluation Reserve

Total

At 31 December 2015
Surplus/(Deficit) attributable to the entity

10,532,348.08
598,587.28

318,398.47
-

10,850,746.55
598,587.28

At 31 December 2016

11,130,935.36

318,398.47

11,449,333.83

Surplus/(Deficit) attributable to the entity
At 31 December 2017

589,741.82
11,720,677.18

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements
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318,398.47

589,741.82
12,039,075.65

F I NA N C IA L R E P ORT S
The Urological Society of Australia and New Zealand
ACN: 000 069 376
Statement of Cash Flows
For the Year Ended 31 December 2017
note

2017
$

2016
$

Cash Flows from Operating Activities
Proceeds from Operations
Proceeds from ASM
Proceeds from Section Activities
Interest received
Payments to Suppliers
Payments for ASM
Payments for Sections
Net cash provided from operating activities

2,082,180.88
1,867,046.24
609,308.78
221,838.59
(2,438,050.01)
(1,397,571.55)
(558,914.25)
17(b)

385,838.68

2,244,666.77
1,978,062.00
711,567.46
231,613.93
(2,167,503.62)
(1,203,332.42)
(391,141.24)
1,403,932.88

Cash flows Investing Activities
Property Plant & Equipment-purchases

(24,264.52)

(22,448.27)

Net cash provided from Investing Activities

(24,264.52)

(22,448.27)

Cash flows Financing Activities
Net Proceeds from redemption of investments

-

2,231.47

Net cash provided from Financing Activities

-

2,231.47

Net Increase / (Decrease) in cash held
Cash held at the beginning of the financial year
Cash held at the end of the financial year

17(a)

361,574.16

1,383,716.08

10,848,780.52

9,465,064.44

11,210,354.68

10,848,780.52

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements
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F I NA N C IA L R E P ORT S
The Urological Society of Australia and New Zealand
ACN: 000 069 376
Notes to the Financial Statements
For the Year Ended 31 December 2017
Note 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
The Urological Society of Australia and New Zealand is limited by guarantee, incorporated
and domiciled in Australia.
The financial statements were authorised by the Board of Directors on the 25th January,
2018.
Basis of Preparation
The directors have prepared the financial statements on the basis the company is a non
reporting entity because there are no users dependent on general purpose financial
statements. The financial statements are therefore special purpose financial statements
that have been prepared in order to meet the needs of members and the requirements of
the Corporations Act, 2001.
The company is a not for profit entity for financial reporting purposes under Australian
Accounting Standards.
The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with mandatory Australian
Accounting Standards applicable to entities reporting under the Corporations Act, 2001 and
the significant accounting policies disclosed below, which the directors have determined are
appropriate to meet the needs of members.
The financial statements, except for the cash flow information, have been prepared on an
accruals basis and are based on historical costs and do not take into account changing
money values or, except where stated, current valuations of non-current assets. Cost is
based on the fair values of the consideration given in exchange for assets. The accounting
policies have been consistently applied, unless otherwise stated.
The report is presented in Australian dollars.
Accounting Policies
a) Income Tax
The Society is exempt from paying income tax. No provision is made for income tax expense
nor are there any deferred tax assets or deferred tax to be disclosed or accounted for.
b) Goods and Services Tax (GST)
Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of GST except:
• where the GST incurred on purchases of goods and services is not recoverable from the
taxation authority, in which case the GST is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of
the asset or as part of the expense item as applicable.
• receivables and payables are stated inclusive of GST.
The net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is included as
part of receivables or payables in the statement of financial position.
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F I NA N C IA L R E P ORT S
The Urological Society of Australia and New Zealand
ACN: 000 069 376
Notes to the Financial Statements
For the Year Ended 31 December 2017
b) Goods and Services Tax (GST) (cont)
Cash flows are included in the cash flow statement on a net basis and GST component of
cash flows arising from investing and financing activities, which is recoverable from, or
payable to, the taxation authority are classified as operating cash flows.
Commitments and contingencies are disclosed net of the amount of GST.
c) Foreign Currency
All foreign currency transactions are shown in Australian dollars.
Foreign Currency Transactions
Transactions in foreign currencies are recorded in Australian dollars at the exchange rates
ruling at the date of the transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currency are retranslated at the rate of exchange ruling at the reporting date.
Exchange differences are recognised in the statement of comprehensive income in the
period in which they occur.
d) Revenue
Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to
the Society and which can be reliably measured.
Member Fees and Subscriptions
The subscription year runs from 1 January to 31 December. Subscriptions are payable
annually and are recognised in the applicable membership year.
Interest
Recognised as interest accrues, taking into account the yield on the financial asset.
Income from Investments
Revenue recognised when the income is earned. Unrealised increments or decrements in
the Society's portfolio of investment assets (Note 6) are included in the Company's statement
of comprehensive income each year.
Grants
Revenue is recognised when control of the contribution or right to receive the contribution is
received.
e) Trade and Other Receivables
Receivables are recognised and carried at original invoice amount less any allowance for any
uncollectible amounts. An estimate for doubtful debts is made when collection of the full
amount is no longer probable. Bad debts are written off when identified.
f) Property, Plant and Equipment
All classes of assets are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any impairment.
Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful life of the assets
(excluding freehold land) as follows:
Buildings - 50 years
Strata title - 50 years
Property, plant and equipment - 3 - 13 years
Information technology assets - 3 years
Library books - 5 years
USANZ | 2017 Annual Report
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F I NA N C IA L R E P ORT S
The Urological Society of Australia and New Zealand
ACN: 000 069 376
Notes to the Financial Statements
For the Year Ended 31 December 2017
f) Property, Plant and Equipment (cont)
Impairment
The carrying values of property, plant and equipment are reviewed for impairment when
events or changes in circumstances indicate the carrying value may not be recoverable. If
such an indication exists and where carrying values exceed the recoverable amount, the
asset is written down to the recoverable amount. Recoverable amount is the greater of fair
value less costs to sell and value in use.
Land and Buildings
Land and buildings are based on Directors valuation or the independent valuations obtained
every three years. They reflect independent assessments of the open market value of land
and buildings based on existing use. Refer to Note 8 for details of the independent valuation
current for the term of these financial statements.
g) Financial Assets
Recognition
Financial instruments are initially measured at cost on trade date, which includes transaction
costs, when the related contractual rights or obligations exist. Subsequent to initial
recognition these instruments are measured as set out below.
Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss
A financial asset is classified in this category if acquired principally for the purpose
of selling in the short term or if so designated by management. Derivatives are also
categorised as held for trading unless they are designated as hedges. Realised and
unrealised gains and losses arising from changes in the fair value of these assets are
included in the statement of comprehensive income in the period in which they arise.
Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable
payments that are not quoted in an active market and are stated at amortised cost using the
effective interest rate method.
Held-to-maturity investments
These investments have fixed maturities, and it is the company's intention to hold these
investments to maturity. Any held-to-maturity investments held by the company are stated at
amortised cost using the effective interest rate method.
Available-for-sale financial assets-Investments (Note 6)
Available-for-sale financial assets include any financial assets not included in the above
categories. Available-for-sale financial assets are reflected at fair value. Unrealised gains
and losses arising from changes in fair value are taken to the statement of comprehensive
income.
Financial liabilities
Non-derivative financial liabilities are recognised at amortised cost, comprising original debt
less principal payments and amortisation.
Derivative instruments
It is not a current policy of the Society to enter into financial contracts of the derivative nature.
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F I NA N C IA L R E P ORT S
The Urological Society of Australia and New Zealand
ACN: 000 069 376
Notes to the Financial Statements
For the Year Ended 31 December 2017
g) Financial Assets (cont)
Fair value
Fair value is determined based on current bid prices for all quoted investments. Valuation
techniques are applied to determine the fair value of all unlisted securities, including recent
arms' length transactions, reference to similar instruments and pricing.
Impairment
At each reporting date, the entity assess whether there is objective evidence that a financial
instrument has been impaired. In each case of available-for-sale financial instruments a
prolonged decline in value of the instrument is considered to determine whether an
impairment has arisen.
Impairment losses are recognised in the statement of comprehensive income.
h) Employee benefits
Employee benefits expected to be settled within one year have been measured at the
amounts expected to be paid. Employee benefits payable later than one year have been
measured at the present value of the estimated future cash outflows to be made for those
benefits only where this amount is materially different from the current measured value.
Annual Leave
The provision for annual leave represents the amount which the Society has a present
obligation to pay resulting from employees’ services provided up to balance date. The
provision has been calculated at the amounts expected to be paid when the liability is settled
and includes on-costs.
Long Service Leave
The liability for employee benefits for long service leave represents estimated future cash
outflows to be made by the employer resulting from employees’ services provided up to the
balance date.
In determining the liability for employee benefits, account has been taken of future increases
in wage and salary rates, and the Society's experience with staff departures.
i) Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the company has a legal or constructive obligation, as a
result of past events, for which it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will result
and that outflow can be reliably measured.
j) Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents includes cash on hand, deposits held at call with banks.
k) Comparative figures
Where necessary comparatives have been reclassified to ensure consistent presentation
with the current year.
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F I NA N C IA L R E P ORT S
The Urological Society of Australia and New Zealand
ACN: 000 069 376
Notes to the Financial Statements
For the Year Ended 31 December 2017
l) Critical accounting estimates and judgements
The directors evaluate estimates and judgements incorporated into the financial report based
on historical knowledge and best available current information. Estimates assume a
reasonable expectation of future events and are based on current trends and economic data,
obtained both externally and within the company.
m) New Accounting Standards for application in future periods
The AASB has issued new, revised and amended Standards and Interpretations that have
mandatory application dates for future reporting periods. The Company does not expect
them to have any material effect on the Company's financial statements and will not be
adopting them before the mandatory application dates.
n) New Accounting Standards adopted in financial year
During the current year there were no new or revised Australian Accounting Standards
issued which had applicability for the Society.
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F I NA N C IA L R E P ORT S
The Urological Society of Australia and New Zealand
ACN: 000 069 376
Notes to the Financial Statements
For the Year Ended 31 December 2017

2017
$

Note 2 - REVENUE
Operating Revenue:
Operating Activities
ASM Revenues
Section Revenues
Investment Incomes
Total Operating Revenue

2016
$

2,007,146.65
1,650,999.10
577,682.52
279,863.06
4,515,691.33

1,745,430.83
1,778,529.84
598,657.06
263,507.37
4,386,125.10

Note 3 - SURPLUS AND ACCUMULATED FUNDS
Significant items explaining the financial performance:
The surplus for the year to 31st December 2017 includes current year Section activity surpluses
of $74,159.98 (2016 - $125,877.98)
The surplus for the year to 31st December 2017 includes the 2017 ASM Surplus of $419,722.68
(2016 - $525,942.49)
Note 4 - CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash on Hand and at Bank
Term Deposits & Notice of Withdrawal accounts

2,765,487.61
8,444,867.07
11,210,354.68

2,613,951.51
8,234,829.01
10,848,780.52

The effective interest rate on short-term bank deposits was 2.01% (2016 - 2.35%)
These notice of withdrawal deposits have varying notice terms-refer Note 18.
Note 5 - RECEIVABLES
Accounts Receivable
Doubtful Debts

616,335.12
(71,598.62)
544,736.50

679,755.64
(59,416.80)
620,338.84

Note 6 - INVESTMENTS - at market value
Westpac (BT) managed portfolio
Perpetual Monthly Income Fund

1,033,968.35
1,033,968.35

975,943.88
975,943.88

Note 7 - OTHER CURRENT ASSETS
ASM advance
Prepayments
Other receivables
ASCTS Reimbursables
Sundry debtors and deposits
GST Receivable/(Payable)

421,185.77
117,718.89
6,164.35
1,780.00
(74,287.30)
472,561.71

467,501.43
66,190.48
3,020.99
1,780.00
(233,238.26)
305,254.64
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F I NA N C IA L R E P ORT S
The Urological Society of Australia and New Zealand
ACN: 000 069 376
Notes to the Financial Statements
Note 8 - PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Plant and Equipment - at cost
Accumulated Depreciation
Written Down Value
Building - Carrying value - at directors valuation 31-12-2017

2017
$

2016
$

356,405.87
(298,864.19)
57,541.68
1,132,605.92

332,141.35
(269,207.74)
62,933.61
1,141,125.47

An independent valuation of $1,150,000 for the Building and associated renovations was provided on 1/12/15
by Mr Con Eleftheriou of AVG Valuers, Certified Practising Valuers.
Note 8a - MOVEMENT IN CARRYING AMOUNTS
Plant & Equipment
Balance at beginning of the year
Additions
Disposals
Depreciation
Carrying amount at end of the year

62,933.61
24,264.52
(29,656.45)
57,541.68

68,228.85
22,448.27
(27,743.51)
62,933.61

Building
Balance at beginning of the year
Additions
Revaluations
Disposals
Depreciation
Carrying amount at end of the year

1,141,125.47
(8,519.55)
1,132,605.92

1,150,000.00
(8,874.53)
1,141,125.47

The revaluation increment of $33,043.47 is included in a revaluation reserve and forms part of the total
equity of the Society.
Note 9 - PAYABLES
Sundry creditors and accruals

645,413.37

765,981.79

645,413.37

765,981.79

122,286.00
122,286.00

96,234.00
96,234.00

111,320.00
111,320.00

99,308.00
99,308.00

770,227.24
763,446.58
1,533,673.82

766,113.65
677.24
776,728.45
1,543,519.34

Note 10 - PROVISIONS
Current
Annual Leave
Non Current
Long Service Leave

Note 11 - OTHER CURRENT LIABILITIES
ASM 2017
ASM 2018
Unearned Income
Subscriptions and sponsorships received in advance.
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The Urological Society of Australia and New Zealand
ACN: 000 069 376
Notes to the Financial Statements
Note 12 - COMMITMENTS FOR EXPENDITURE
The Society has commitment for expenditure and costs in relation to the running of the ASM in
in February, 2018. The Directors believe the 2018 ASM will return a surplus.
The company has commitments for the payment of annual grants each year.
Note 13 - CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
No contingent liabilities exist as at the date of this report.
Note 14 - EVENTS SUBSEQUENT TO REPORTING DATE
No event has occurred after the reporting date that would materially affect the results or
state of affairs of the company at 31 December 2017
Note 15 - RELATED PARTIES
Names of directors who held office at any time during the year:
Andrew Brooks
Stephen Mark
Peter Heathcote
Mark Frydenberg
Melvyn Kuan
Mohamed Khadra

Date of appointment
23-Mar-10
18-Mar-14
13-Apr-15
12-Apr-13
16-Apr-16

Frank Redwig
David Winkle
Tyrone Carlin
Karen McKertich
Kim Moretti

Date of appointment
13-Apr-15
23-Mar-10
20-Feb-16
16-Apr-16
24-Apr-12

06-May-16

Remuneration of Directors
Directors provide their services on a voluntary basis. The President does not receive an annual allowance
but is reimbursed reasonable travel and other costs associated with his role and duties as President.
The Board Chair does not receive an annual allowance but is reimbursed reasonable travel and other costs associated
with his role and duties as Board Chair.
Other Directors are reimbursed for out of pocket expenses associated with their role and duties as
a Director.
Note 16 - REMUNERATION OF AUDITORS
Audit services

Note 17 - CASH FLOW INFORMATION
(a) Reconciliation of Cash
Cash at the end of the financial year as
shown in the Statements of Cash Flows
is reconciled to the related items in the
statement of financial position as follows:
Cash in hand and at Bank

2017
$

2016
$

9,850.00
9,850.00

9,850.00
9,850.00

11,210,354.68
11,210,354.68

10,848,780.52
10,848,780.52
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The Urological Society of Australia and New Zealand
ACN: 000 069 376
Notes to the Financial Statements
2017
$

Note 17 - CASH FLOW INFORMATION (Cont)
(b) Reconciliation of Cash Flow and
Surplus for the period
Surplus for the period
Non cash flows in operating profit
Depreciation
Portfolio valued at market
Changes in assets and liabilities
Decrease / (increase) in receivables
Decrease / (increase) in other assets
(Decrease) / increase in accounts payable
(Decrease) / increase in provisions and other liabilities
Net cash flows from operating activities

2016
$

589,741.82

598,587.28

38,176.00
(58,024.47)

36,618.04
(31,893.44)

75,602.34
(167,307.07)
(120,568.42)
28,218.48

164,159.79
198,946.32
(22,492.85)
460,007.74

385,838.68

1,403,932.88

Note 18 - FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
The Society's financial investments consist of deposits with banks, short term deposits, local money market
instruments, managed fund investments, accounts receivable and payable. The directors overall risk
strategy seeks to assist the Society meet its stated objectives whilst minimising potential adverse
effects on financial performance. The Society's main risks are interest rate and credit risk.
Interest Rate Risk
The company's exposure to interest rate risk is the risk that a financial instrument's
value will fluctuate as a result of changes in market interest rates. Based on current income
producing assets the Society's sensitivity to a 1% movement in interest rates is
approximately $111,998 per annum. The effective weighted average interest rate on those
financial assets and liabilities is as follows:Financial Assets

Cash on Hand
Business cheque accounts
Business cash reserve
Business cash reserve
CMA Investment Option
Notice of Withdrawal-31 Day
Notice of Withdrawal-31 Day
Notice of Withdrawal-90 Day
Notice of Withdrawal-90 Day
Investments
Receivables

Rate
0.01%
0.50%
0.01%
1.70%
2.40%
2.20%
2.60%

2017
$
Interest
Bearing
2,187,159.43
344,076.77
534,996.47
7,909,870.62
1,033,968.35
12,010,071.64

2017
$
Non Interest
Bearing
503.00
233,748.39

2016
$
Interest
Bearing
16,962.24
1,209,300.74
762,726.81

2016
$
Non Interest
Bearing
3.00
624,958.72

522,372.00
7,712,457.01
544,736.50
778,987.89

975,943.88
11,199,762.68

620,338.84
1,245,300.56

Financial Liabilities
Current Accounts
Payables
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-

645,413.37
645,413.37

-

765,981.79
765,981.79

F I NA N C IA L R E P ORT S
The Urological Society of Australia and New Zealand
ACN: 000 069 376
Notes to the Financial Statements
Note 18 - FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Cont)
Credit Risk
The maximum exposure to credit risk with respect to recognised financial assets at balance date, excluding the value
of any collateral or other security, is the carrying amount of those assets, net of any provisions for doubtful debts,
as disclosed in the statement of financial position and notes to the financial statements.
Net Fair Values
The financial assets and liabilities that are readily traded in a quoted market are valued at
the quoted market bid price at balance date.
For other financial assets and liabilities that are not readily traded their fair values are materially
in line with carrying values.
Note 19 - MEETINGS OF OFFICERS

Director's Name

Andrew Brooks **
Stephen Mark
Melvyn Kuan
Mark Frydenberg
Tyrone Carlin
Mohamed Khadra
Kim Moretti
Karen McKertich
David Winkle*
Frank Redwig
Peter Heathcote

Directors Meetings
Number of
Meetings Eligible
Number
to Attend
Attended
3
6
6
6
6
4
6
6
2
6
6

1
5
6
6
4
3
4
6
2
5
6

* Director's tenure finished 24 February 2017
** Director's tenure finished 6 May 2017
Note 20 - COMPANY DETAILS
The registered office and principal place of business of the Society is:
Suite 512, Eastpoint
180 Ocean Street
Edgecliff. NSW. 2027
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B OA R D O F U R O L O G Y R E P O RT
Chair, Board of Urology
Melvyn Kuan
Surgical training is defined by issues that are topical.
Recently, the spotlight has appropriately been
focused on professional conduct, reflecting similar
societal changes in attitudes. Society has become
more open and critical about issues of fairness, and
gender / minority discrimination. Those in positions
of authority are under increasing scrutiny for their
actions and decisions. Whilst the issue has in no
way been resolved, the debate and awareness
stimulated by the Royal Australasian College of
Surgeons (RACS), our professional governing body,
has the beginnings of cultural shift within surgery and
surgical training. There will no doubt be continuing
developments.
My reflections of 2017 highlight a refocus of the
primary task of training and guiding the future
generation of Urologists. RACS is accredited by
the Australian Medical Council (AMC) to ensure
standards of education, training and assessment of
the medical profession. Traditional surgical training
has existed as an apprenticeship model, as trainees
gain experience whilst working in hospital units.
The recent AMC review of RACS highlighted the
need for surgical training programs to demonstrate
greater consistency and accountability. Training
is becoming more formalised, as we are asked to
improve methods for assessing progress, control the
inputs, and subsequently produce a high quality final
product. These fundamental changes will challenge
our existing model and its sustainability in many
training posts. Many supervisors and trainers will be
frustrated by the changes, but as the organisation
responsible for training future urologists, there is little
alternative if we are to satisfy the needs of external
scrutiny and community demands.
In February 2018, I will hand over the role of the
Board Chair to Stuart Philip, who has been the
Deputy Chair, and the Chair of Training for the
Northern Section. He brings new perspectives and
experience from his many years on the Board. Stuart
has been a valued sounding board when making
decisions, and will be a balanced voice of reason in
what may be somewhat turbulent times. I thank him

for his past and future commitment, and wish him
well in this important role. Taking on the Board Chair
role was not a decision Stuart made lightly, but I am
sure he will be well supported by the other Board
members.
The Board Chair role has many challenges particularly
time obligations, but also when decisions need
to be made which may not be to the satisfaction
of all parties. Though my time on the Board has
been fulfilling and personally enriching, it has made
me appreciate that many situations have multiple
dimensions, and that setting policy for a bi-national
organisation is beyond merely choosing the easiest
option on the day. I encourage all urologists to
consider some role in the training program beyond
the supervision of trainees. The Board has never been
as engaged with the urological community as it is
now with the establishment of the subcommittees.
These subcommittees have already undertaken
some excellent work that has attracted favourable
comment from other specialties and the AMC.
The sustainability of the pro-bono nature of our
program is not possible without the involvement of
more urologists in the training program. I thank the
members of each subcommittee for their time and
expertise over the past year.
The subcommittees are:
Selection: focused on the requisite attributes
of prospective trainees, and the tools for their
assessment.
Training Post Accreditation: tasked with assessment
of training posts and the conditions of training.
International Medical Graduates (IMG): concerned
with assessment of IMGs and their oversight.
Education: pivotal in the reform of our training
processes as it sets the curriculum and oversees the
processes of teaching and workplace assessment.
One notable addition to the Board in 2017 was
the role of External Representative. This member
was selected by RACS to broaden the skills and
experience of the Board, especially in areas of
decision making, perspective, governance and
process. Our inaugural External Representative is
Brooke Curtin, who is most impressively credentialed,
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and I hope will help the Board navigate the future.

Co-Opted Members

As this is my final report as Chair, I would particularly
like to acknowledge the substantial and valuable
contributions of the members of the Board, a number
of office bearers and USANZ personnel:

Paul Anderson: Urology Representative, Surgical
Sciences & Clinical Examinations Committee &
Urology Representative, Physiology Sub-Committee

Board of Urology

Lydia Johns Putra: Chair, SSE (Urology) Examination
Committee & Urology Representative, Anatomy SubCommittee

Stuart Philip: Deputy Chair and Chair,
Northern TA&E

Johan Gani: Urology Representative, Clinical
Examinations Sub-Committee

Darren Foreman: Chair, SA TA&E

Niall Corcoran: Urology Representative, Pathology
Sub-Committee

James Duthie: Chair, NZ TA&E
Robert Forsyth: Chair, VIC TA&E
Simon Bariol: Chair, NSW TA&E
Andrew Tan: Chair, WA TA&E (retired August 2017)
Jennifer Kong: Chair, WA TA&E (commenced
September 2017)
Mohamed Khadra: Senior Examiner
Peter Heathcote: President, USANZ
Mark Frydenberg: Urology Representative, RACS
Council
Richard Grills, Urology Representative: IMG
Assessment and Management
Brooke Curtin: External Representative
Ross Fowler: Trainee Representative
Michael Nugara: CEO, USANZ

Sub-Committee Chairpersons
Robert Forsyth: Education
James Duthie: Selection
Darren Foreman: Training Post Accreditation
Richard Grills: IMG

Deputy TA&E Chairpersons
Nestor Lalak (NSW)
:
Dennis Gyomber (VIC)
Malcolm Lawson (QLD)

nSET1 Co-ordinators
Raymond Ko (NSW), Dennis Gyomber (VIC)
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Support Personnel
Deborah Klein: Education and Training Manager,
USANZ
Kirsten Isaacs: Training Administrator
I would like to acknowledge the contribution of
Ross Fowler, Trainee Representative who has
strongly advocated trainee causes and participated
collaboratively in discussion. Ross’ term on the Board
has concluded, James Churchill has been appointed to
the role. We wish Ross well in his final year of training.
James Duthie (Chair, NZ TA&E and Selection
Subcommittee) and Robert Forsyth (Chair, VIC TA&E
and Education Subcommittee) are also completing
their terms in office at this time. Both Jim and Rob
have made outstanding contributions not only
on the Board, but also on their subcommittees.
The new initiatives implemented by the Selection
Subcommittee have attracted the attention of other
specialties. The changes in the selection process also
reflect the attitudes of the urological community. Rob
will remain on the Board as Deputy Chair, and will
continue to Chair the Education Subcommittee. This
Subcommittee will be the focus of change by setting
the strategic direction in the future provision and
delivery of training.
Andrew Malcolm (NZ), Dennis Gyomber (VIC) and
Malcolm Lawson (QLD) will join the Board in early
2018 and we look forward to their contributions. They
have already been involved in training within their
Sections, which will assist their transition.

B OA R D O F U R O L O G Y R E P O RT
Trainees
The beginning of 2017 was marked with immense
sadness for our urological community as a tragic
motor vehicle accident took the life of one of our
trainees, Dr Rahil Nagpal, who was the husband
of another trainee, Dr Chloe Wilcox. At the time,
concerted efforts were made by representatives from
USANZ and the Board of Urology to provide comfort
and support to the grieving families and the trainees
who were close to Rahil and Chloe.
Efforts were also made to identify potential solutions
to assist Port Macquarie and Royal Newcastle
with their manpower problems. I would like to
acknowledge the urologists at Newcastle and Port
Macquarie for their compassion and support during
this difficult time. I would particularly like to thank
our colleagues in Port Macquarie for working under
very difficult circumstances without a senior trainee,
whilst providing support and guidance to their nSET1
trainee.
Rahil was a respected and valued member of the
medical fraternity and an engaging and dependable
urology trainee. He was also actively involved in
global health projects to assist those less fortunate.
In memoriam, USANZ will be establishing an award
to assist individuals who wish to undertake volunteer
work in the same spirit as Rahil. Our thoughts
continue to be for Chloe and the Nagpal and Wilcox
families.
At the end of 2017, there were 104 trainees
participating in the SET Program in Urology. The
distribution was as follows:
nSET

No.

SET

No.

Total

nSET1

18

nSET2

18

SET3

4

22

nSET3

4

SET4

13

17

SET5

23

23

SET6

20

20

18

Interrupt 4
Total

4
104

Ranjan Arianayagam, Jonathan Chambers, Jonathan
Cho, Sam Chopra, Kylie Gallagher, Nicola Jeffery,
Edward Latif, Don Lee, Heath Liddell, Mark Liu,
Sum Sum Lo, Nicholas Mehan, Shiva Nair, Anudini
Ranasinghe, Kapil Sethi, Matthew Stanowski,
Alexander Yeates.
We would also like to congratulate Richard Cetti
and Tony Makris who attained their FRACS (Urol)
following completion of their required assessments
as International Medical Graduates.

Examinations
We acknowledge the significant contribution of the
members of the Urology Court of Examiners. We
also thank Mohamed Khadra for his guidance and
leadership during his term as Senior Examiner and
look forward to working with Anita Clarke who has
now taken over this role.
The following trainees and IMGs passed the
Fellowship Examinations in 2017 and we would like
to congratulate them on their success:
Ranjan Arianayagam, Kieran Beatie, Richard Cetti,
Joanna Dargan, Matthew Hong, Nicola Jeffery,
Don Lee, Mark Liu, Sum Sum Lo, Tony Makris,
Kara McDermott, Sophie Plagakis, Simon Pridgeon,
Weranja Ranasinghe, Anthony Ta, Isaac Thangasamy,
Jurjen Westera, Henry Yao, Jinna Yao,
Alexander Yeates.
Unfortunately, the pass rate in September was very
low and the Court of Examiners were concerned
about the assessments being undertaken to
determine a candidate’s preparedness. We
have since developed a guide to assist Training
Supervisors in determining the suitability of a
candidate to undertake the Fellowship Examination.
There were 20 trainees who passed Surgical Sciences
Examination in Urology in 2017. The Frank Gardiner
Award was once again presented to the trainees
who attained the highest score at each sitting. The
recipients were Francis Ting in the June exam and
Nicholas Davies in the October exam.

We would like to congratulate the following trainees
who completed training in 2017 and wish them well in
their future urological career:
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Selection

Mandatory Training Requirements

A selection process was undertaken in 2017 for entry
into the nSET Program in Urology in 2018 and 62
doctors applied. The following 20 new trainees were
selected and will commence clinical training in 2018:

We are grateful to supervisors, trainers and
trainees for complying with the RACS mandatory
requirements concerned with professional conduct
(Operating with Respect online module), and training
(Foundation Skills for Surgical Educators course).
These are part of the strategy for cultural change
within surgical training, and will ensure we continue to
have credibility as trainers of future urologists.

NSW

Ross Calopedos, Daniel Chia, Jonathan
Kam, Anton Mare, Shannon McGrath,
Alison Rutledge, Luke Wang

QLD

Andre Joshi, Munad Khan, Amit Patel,
Marianna Zukiwskyj

VIC

Daniel Christidis, Ned Kinnear, Todd
Manning, Lana Pedjdonovic, James
Sewell

NZ

Mohit Bajaj, Muazzam Tahir

SA

Gary Wang

WA

Wilson Choi

The Board also appointed Ken Chow and Cristian
Udovicich who have deferred commencement of
clinical training in 2018.

AMC Accreditation Review of RACS
As part of the review of the RACS, each specialty
was required to provide a submission outlining
compliance with the accreditation standards.
We provided a detailed report highlighting
the forecasted changes in direction in training.
Additionally, the AMC held meetings with Board
members, staff, trainers, trainees, IMGs and other
healthcare professionals.
The AMC commended the nature of our submission,
particularly as we had openly acknowledged
the areas requiring further development. They
highlighted several objectives to be achieved
including selection process modifications so that
candidates best suited to a career in urology continue
to be identified, curriculum development, better
definition of program and graduate outcomes,
and a defined scope of practice for urologists.
There also needs to be greater balance between
clinical service demands and training including the
development of strategies to better prioritise training
in the workplace. Additionally, barriers to flexible
forms of training (i.e. less than full-time training) need
to be removed. It is important that the RACS and
the Board work together to implement the AMC
recommendations.
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Training Posts
We continued to closely monitor the maintenance
of standards within SET Urology training posts. A
number of posts were inspected or reviewed to
ensure that the core components of education,
training and supervision were in place. Where
deficiencies were identified, we provided clear and
comprehensive guidance to assist the post to provide
an effective environment for training.

Awards and Grants
Keith Kirkland and Villis Marshall Awards
In 2017, 11 trainees were selected to present their
research in the Keith Kirkland / Villis Marshall Session
at the USANZ ASM in Canberra. The successful
recipients were Amila Siriwardana (Keith Kirkland)
& Marlon Perera (Villis Marshall). Each received a
grant from USANZ and the Australasian Urological
Foundation (AUF) to assist in a Travelling Fellowship
to present their work overseas. We extend our
gratitude to the AUF for its generosity with this award.
International Exchange Program
In November 2017, a small number of senior trainees
from the European Association of Urology (EAU),
the Canadian Urological Association (CUA) and the
Urological Association of Asia (UAA) attended Trainee
Week. Once again, the feedback from our overseas
guests was most complimentary especially in terms
of the comprehensive program and the hospitality
extended by USANZ and our local trainees.
As part of the exchange arrangement, the
following SET6 trainees were selected to attend
the Asian Urology Resident’s Course (AURC) and
UAA Congress, the European Urology Resident’s
Education Program (EUREP) or the Canadian Urology
Resident’s Teaching Program (CSUR) and CUA ASM:
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Manny Saluja and Matt Stanowski (EUREP),
Yuigi Yuminaga and Kapil Sethi (AURC), Anudini
Ranasinghe and Shiva Nair (CSUR)
We thank Ipsen for their generous support by
providing a financial contribution to assist with travel
expenses.
AUA Residents Bowl
Manny Saluja (SET6) was selected to represent
USANZ in the AUA Residents Bowl. We thank Ipsen
for their generous support by providing assistance
with travel expenses.

Joseph Ischia, Peter Wong and Kathryn McLeod
(Scientific Committee), the various members of the
Victorian Section as well as other medical experts
who provided an educational stimulating meeting.
The standard of activities and education continues
to be very high, attracting compliments from our
overseas invited guests. Whilst the logistics of
organising this event are considerable (100 delegates
with lectures, exams, workshops and social events),
it continues to be smoothly run and an asset to the
training program. The 2018 convenors have a lot to
live up to.

IRCAD Grant

Final Words

Sarah O’Neill and Athina Pirpiris were selected to
attend the Advanced Course in Urological Surgery at
IRCAD in Taiwan. We would like to thank Karl Storz
for their generous support in funding this valuable
educational opportunity.

I would like to make a personal mention to the
stalwart of the training program – Ms Deborah
Klein. Her role in administering the program, and
addressing the pressing needs of the RACS, training
posts, trainees and consultants has contributed to
the effective functioning and coordination of the
program. Her personal investment, dedication, and
corporate knowledge are a true asset for our society
in its role setting the educational standards of urology
in Australia and New Zealand.

Educational Travel Grants
A number of trainees were selected to receive grants
to attend an educational event or conference within
the Urology / Oncology fields (Prostate Cancer /
Bladder Cancer focus) in 2017. We would like to thank
Tolmar for their generous support of these grants.

Trainee Week
Trainee Week was held in Melbourne in late
November for all nSET1-SET5 trainees. Our sincere
gratitude is extended to Robert Forsyth (Convenor),

To all the Supervisors, Trainers and Trainees, I think
we can feel that we have the best surgical training
program for Urologists in the world, for which we
should be proud. It is however only a product of
the people involved. I am certain it will continue
to go from strength to strength through increased
participation and engagement.
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DEVELOPMENT REPORT
Continuing Professional Development
Peter Heathcote
USANZ aims to provide a CPD programme that is
easily accessible, with quality learning exercises, and
also endeavours to offer strong encouragement to
members to ensure that our members’ performance
is in accordance with best practice.
The USANZ CPD programme creates a continual
learning experience for qualified urologists that is
supported by high-quality educational meetings
and activities in all their forms throughout the year.
Many of our members are very generous with their
time in tutoring and mentoring fellow colleagues
when gaining and improving new skills. By learning
from our peers and benchmarking ourselves against
the world’s best practice, we are able to rapidly
reach good performance status, especially with the
introduction of new technologies.
Our CPD programme includes education events
such as the Section meetings, which are organised
by the Sections, and other satellite meetings, which
are run by USANZ, and all members are encouraged
to attend. I would like to sincerely thank our meeting
conveners, who so generously give their time and
expertise for the benefit of all members of USANZ.
Our Annual Scientific Meeting is the cornerstone of
our educational interchange and learning and at the
time of writing the 2018 ASM it is shaping up to be
another outstanding meeting.
One of the strategies we continued to implement
in 2017 was providing all USANZ Full Members
with free access to BJUI Knowledge (BJUIK): an
online CPD / CME initiative, developed by BJUI.
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As well as providing high-quality and interactive
e-learning that supports continuous professional
excellence in Urology, members are able to record
all their professional development activities on the
BJUI Knowledge platform anywhere and at any
time using any device. As at the end of December
2017, approximately 86% of eligible members
were registered to participate in BJUIK. Those who
have not registered can still do so by providing
their consent to USANZ to share their contact
details to BJUI. In 2018, USANZ plans to assess the
uptake and use of this platform through a range of
methods, including a member survey.
We would also encourage members to participate
in the PCOR-ANZ initiative which has also been
approved as an audit activity under the RACS CPD
program. We are also finalising the ethics and
governance of the nephrectomy registry and would
also encourage members to participate when it is
actively available. It also has received approval as an
audit activity by RACS.
Please support our Society’s endeavours in
keeping us abreast of the latest developments and
the world’s best benchmarks and outcomes by
attending the Section Meetings, our ASM and all
the excellent satellite meetings that occur during
the year. As we all know, attending these meetings
fulfils many of the criteria we need for recertification
by the College.
Members are encouraged to support our own
journal supplement and please continue submitting
papers for publication. Most urological journals
are available online either directly or through the
College.

POLICY C OMMIT TEE REPORT
Policy Committee Report
Kim Moretti
There were no new delegations from the Board
during 2017. In view of the fact most public policy
matters are now addressed by the relevant Special
Advisory Group, the Board of Directors has
decided to abolish the USANZ Policy Committee,
subject to the approval of members on the
required constitutional change at the Melbourne
2018 USANZ AGM in February. A new Policy is
being developed to establish the framework
for the management of policies (including
Position Statements), procedures and supporting
documents at USANZ. The Policy Framework will
include the principles and rules that apply to the
development, application, approval, review and
distribution of all USANZ policies and procedures.
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Annual Scientific Meetings
Canberra 2017:
Capitalising on our Strengths
Nathan Lawrentschuk
The USANZ Annual Scientific Meeting in 2017
was slightly different as we decided to relocate to
Canberra, Australia’s capital which was formed to
resolve feuding between Melbourne and Sydney
in 1908. As such, Canberra embodied the very
meaning of compromise and collaboration, a
technique developed well within our own Society.
The theme of the meeting was “Capitalising
on our strengths”, so it was fitting that the 70th
anniversary of the USANZ ASM should be held in
Canberra. It also provided wonderful and unique
tourist opportunities for guests including the
Australian War Memorial, the National Gallery
and Parliament House.
At the outset, I would like to thank and
congratulate the Scientific Program Director
Prof Shomik Sengupta. Shomik expended
great effort to successfully attract both
Australasian and international guests to create
a contemporary program addressing current
updates in Urological evidence-based practice,
which were fittingly discussed both inside and
outside the confines of the National Convention
Centre. Shomik and the team were able to call
on many international friends who are only too
ready to enjoy the hospitality and intellectual
jousting at our acclaimed event. Also, one
cannot underestimate the continued growth and
importance of the ANZUNS programme which
was led by Kath Schubach and Carla D’Amico
who ensured, through dedication and hard work,
a star-studded academic event that was also
befitting the Capital.
The representation by international faculty was
exceptional, with countless household names
from world leading urological centres across the
globe involved both in the academic program,
and socially. Urological goliaths including Prof
Christopher Chapple, Prof Prokar Dasgupta, and
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Prof Laurence Klotz weighed in on various topical
issues providing an intercontinental perspective
that complimented the equally impressive
national line-up of speakers.
As with previous years, use of social media
was extensive, with those not able to attend
kept in the loop via #usanz17 and a steady
stream from the ever-focused twitterati. The
ASM provided more than 5 million impressions
and over 2800 individual tweets from more
than 400 participants. The usual suspects
were predominant as always, along with some
newcomers who provided impactful insight.
The official, user-friendly USANZ 2017 mobile
App also kept participants up to date via timely
notifications.
The meeting’s common themes were strong and
pertinent to contemporary urology. They centred
around collaborative research efforts such as
the ANZUP trials group and the Young Urology
Researchers Organisation (YURO); technology,
especially PSMA PET and social media; and
social justice, including women in urology and
operating with respect. Discussions were directed
by chairs during dedicated Q&A times at the
end of each session, a new and well-received
addition to the 2017 meeting. This initiative was
generously embraced by both senior and junior
academics and led to intriguing, interactive
symposiums and at times heated debate.
The first official day of proceedings (Friday)
provided a smorgasbord of morning and
afternoon workshops ranging from technical
skills courses to the medico-legal implications of
E-Health and technology. This was followed by an
allocated networking session for Urology trainees
with international faculty.
The Harry Harris Orator, Elizabeth Cosson, AM
CSC officially opened the conference in the
Royal Theatre of the convention centre. Her
speech “Leading with grit and grace” eloquently
detailed her journey in the armed forces and
highlighted the difficulties of the unmistakably
imbalanced workplace for women in the military.
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Her talk clearly underlined her role in forging
a highly successful career for herself, as well
as for those women following in her footsteps.
Her inspiring dialogue was synchronous with
contemporary issues surrounding Urological
practice, especially concerning equality
for women and equity both in training and
established practice.
Kicking off another exceptional day, the ‘Women
in Urology’ breakfast symposium chaired by Dr
Anita Clark, alongside distinguished panellists
including Dr Caroline Dowling and Dr Eva Fong,
was a conference stand-out for many - it will be a
regular feature of the ASM.
Plenary sessions filled the remainder of the
pre-lunch program, leading into the highly
anticipated Keith Kirkland and Villis Marshall
presentations by Urology SET trainees. The
presentations did not disappoint. As in previous
years, the group of future urologists presented
captivating and high-quality research and then, as
per tradition, weathered the gauntlet of probing
and tough questions from the floor. 2017 Villis
Marshall winner, Dr Marlon Perera, presented
ground-breaking research regarding the renoprotective role of zinc in contrast nephropathy. Dr
Amila Siriwardana deservedly received the Keith
Kirkland award for his multicentre retrospective
review on robot assisted salvage node dissection
to treat recurrences detected by PSMA PET.
Other ASM presentation winners awarded at
the Gala Dinner were: Alban Gee Award (for
best poster presentation) – Jeremy Grummet;
BAUS Trophy (for best podium presentation)
– Handoo Rhee; AbbVie Platinum Award (for
best endeavour) – Richard Grills; and the LowArnold Award in Female and Functional Urology
(sponsored by Allergan) – Lewis Chan.
The YURO annual meeting once again led to a
gathering of enthusiastic, innovative and clever
minds from Australasia, eager to pursue research
opportunities through collaborative means. This

is a thriving organisation now making waves with
international collaborations and I encourage all
urologists to promote involvement to interested
colleagues.
The Gala Dinner is a stand out affair during each
ASM and this year was no exception. Guests
were provided with the unique opportunity to
see inside Australia’s Parliament House. The night
began in the spacious foyer of the Great Hall with
surprise operatic renditions of many well-known
classics, culminating with a climactic performance
of Nessun Dorma. Guests then enjoyed a
delectable 3-course meal in line with that served
to a collection of political royalty including
Barack Obama and the Duke and Duchess of
Cambridge.
It can be said with certainty that the 2017 USANZ
70th ASM presented a scientific program as
strong as ever within a fascinating and historical
backdrop and complimented by a lively
social atmosphere. This consensus of a highly
successful meeting, I’m sure was shared by all.
I would like to thank Dr Todd G Manning,
Department of Surgery, Austin Health,
Melbourne, and Young Urology Researchers
Organisation (YURO), Australia. Twitter: @
DocToddManning who wrote a comprehensive
review of the meeting and published it at the
BJUI website: http://www.bjuinternational.com/
bjui-blog/capitalising-strengths-70th-usanz-asm/
The meeting organisers were fantastic and
special mention to Jan Shaw and Michael Nugara
whose experience, pragmatism and knowledge
again made the meeting a success.
Finally, no meeting is complete without our
Platinum, Gold, Silver, and Bronze Sponsors.
Industry funding is much appreciated and allows
our education to continue.
We look forward to seeing you all in 2018 and
hope you are eagerly anticipating the “coffee”
and other experiences that await in Melbourne!
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Melbourne 2018

Brisbane 2019

Nathan Lawrentschuk, Convenor

Peter Burke, Convenor

Planning for the 71st Melbourne ASM in
conjunction with the 23rd Annual Meeting of
ANZUNS, is now in its final stages and is assured
to deliver another high-quality program.

We’re busy getting plans together for USANZ
2019 in Brisbane, as always associated with
ANZUNS and in 2019 immediately preceded by
the Asian Pacific Society for Sexual Medicine
Meeting. Myself and Rachel Oxford (ANZUNS
Convenor) are planning a vibrant social
programme while our Scientific Convenors,
Ian Vela (USANZ) and Ariane McKinnon
(ANZUNS), are on the way to assembling a
scientific programme which is dynamic and
diverse. Prepare to see the best of Australasian
and International Urology while enjoying the
highlights of the Sunshine State’s Capital.

Under the Chairmanship of Declan Murphy, the
Scientific Program Committee has assembled
a superlative program of world-renowned
international speakers and regional expertise
from within USANZ. The ASM will be a wonderful
opportunity to interact directly with experts
who are at the forefront of urological treatment,
research, and education. I would also like to take
this opportunity to acknowledge and congratulate
the huge effort that ANZUNS, particularly Kay
Talbot, has expended in putting together a very
strong program for the urological nurses.
For the ASM’s return to Melbourne after 5 years,
we will highlight the lesser known aspects of
Melbourne; such as the myriad world-class
cafes and small bars scattered throughout the
city, amazing street art and our diverse cultural
heritage.
It has been a pleasure working with Declan and
with the SAG representatives including Shomik
Sengupta, John Kourambas, Peter Chin, Eric
Chung, Grahame Smith and Vincent Tse. I have
also enjoyed working with Jan Shaw and Michael
Nugara who provide the significant logistical
and organisational infrastructure to bring this
meeting together with the assistance of the staff
at Ozaccom Conference Services.
I would also like to thank Peter Heathcote and
the Board of Directors for their support, and to
extend my appreciation to the many USANZ
members who have given their time to ensure the
success of this meeting.
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Specialty Elected Councillor to RACS
Mark Frydenberg
It has been a challenging year in the relationship
between USANZ and RACS. As members
would be aware RACS has adopted a position
of interacting with a single private health
fund, Medibank Private, to interpret the fund’s
data before public release, focussing on the
sustainability of healthcare. Unfortunately, whilst
formal review of the Urologic data was provided,
this expert commentary was not included within
the final document, the document was not sent
back to the reviewer for a final check, and a
press release issued without urologic input. As
members would be aware this led to inaccurate
information being released and subsequently
published in the Australian media, leading to
reputational damage to urologists. As the reviewer
and Urology Council member on RACS, I voiced
my strenuous objections to the process, which was
strongly supported by USANZ. RACS has issued
an apology to USANZ and all USANZ members,
and discussions have taken place regarding the
process moving forwards, which will now be more
focussed on documented complications (not
readmissions) and examining median rather than
mean out of pocket expenses. RACS has agreed
that in the future, the reviewer’s comments will
be included, the final draft publication will be
reviewed by the urology expert reviewer and
USANZ leadership for accuracy and suitability
for release, and any future press releases are
joint releases with the input from USANZ. Whilst
USANZ has made an argument questioning the
appropriateness of the relationship with Medibank
Private, RACS remains committed to the
relationship but ensures an improved process in
the future. With regards to extreme out of pocket
expenses, RACS has been invited to participate in
a Ministerial Advisory Committee on out of pocket
expenses and I will be representing RACS, and
urologists on this committee.
The year however ended more positively with a
useful Council Meeting in November 2017, where
leaders of all Speciality Societies were invited to

participate. The Australian Medical Council draft
report was favourable (especially for USANZ and
the Board of Urology), however clearly identified
that improved relationships must occur between
RACS and Speciality Societies. All Societies were
able to present their viewpoint, many less than
favourable, and there is a renewed effort by
RACS, under the leadership of President John
Batten and newly appointed CEO Mary Harney,
to make improvements in these relationships,
with ideas being discussed at a RACS Council
strategic planning weekend in February 2018.
We look forward to an improved year of
interaction with RACS, and urge all urologists
who have not yet completed the On Line
Operating with Respect Course, and the
Foundation Skills for Surgical Educators course
to do so as soon as possible as it remains a
compulsory activity of ongoing RACS CME
accreditation.

Victoria
Niall Corcoran
Niall Corcoran: Victorian Executive
Committee Chair
Joseph Ischia: Treasurer / AMA representative
Jyotsna Jayarajan: RACS representative
Mark Frydenberg: Federal USANZ
representative
Rob Forsyth: TA&E representative
Mark Forbes: Country representative
Athina Pirpiris: Trainee representative
Paul Gilmore: Victorian section
meeting convenor
In 2017 the committee met three times. Kirsten
Isaacs, in her capacity as training administrator,
performs administrative support. The role of the
committee and how it will continue to operate
in the future is an area of active discussion within
the state.
Scientific meetings: In 2017, the Victorian Section
meeting was held on 13 October, convened by
Paul Gilmore and Peninsula Health. The 2018
Victorian Section meeting will be convened by St
Vincent’s Hospital.
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Prizes: Hedley Roth won the Prize for Best Registrar
Presentation and Fairleigh Reeves won the Prize
for Best Poster at the 2017 Vic Section Meeting.
Matthew Hong was awarded this year’s Peter
Lawson prize for best registrar during training
(2015-2017).
Examinations and Training: Trainee Week was held
in Albert Park, Melbourne between the 19th and
23rd November 2017, convened by Rob Forsyth
with the assistance of many Victorian urologists,
in particular Joseph Ischia, Kathryn McLeod and
Peter Wong who performed an excellent job
organising the educational content
21 Victorians applied for Urology advanced
training in 2017 for 2018 intake, of which 13 were
shortlisted and 8 were successful.
5 urology trainees and 2 locally supervised
IMGs were successful in the Fellowship
examination in 2017.

South Australia / Northern Territory
Kym Horsell
2017 has been a particularly challenging year
for most of us involved in providing public
hospital Urology services in South Australia. The
consolidation of hospital services, eloquently
named “Transforming Health” has resulted in
significant change for many of us. A huge amount
of work has been required to maintain the integrity
of Urology services, as hospitals have closed and
services have been relocated or rationalised. I
would like to acknowledge the efforts of our South
Australian members in that endeavour.
The opening of the new Royal Adelaide Hospital
(nRAH) has occupied the attention of the media
and the public. Not surprisingly there has been
disruption to service delivery and additional
pressure placed on staff working at the nRAH as
a result. Multiple issues around establishment of
new systems at the hospital have led to a slow
re-establishment of services. These pressures will
remain for some time to come.
Additionally, there has been consolidation of
services in the Central and Northern Area Health
Services of Adelaide with downgrading of Modbury
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Hospital, resulting in additional work being
funneled to the remaining hospitals in the network.
In the Southern area there has been additional
consolidation with closure of the Repatriation
General Hospital after 75 years. Previously
a veterans hospital, in more recent times it
has provided a range of surgical and medical
services to veterans and to community patients.
The Repat / Flinders Urology unit provided
the majority of services for the Southern Area
through the Repat. These services have been
relocated to Flinders Medical Centre and
Noarlunga Hospital. The expectation from
Government and SA Health is that there will be
no impact on service delivery. With a loss of over
200 beds, however, this clearly is unrealistic. The
pressure remains on staff to continue to meet
waiting list targets.
In the context of all of these challenges, we
remain committed to offering the best possible
training opportunities for all of our trainees. I
thank the SA TA&E Committee for their time and
effort supervising the training program, and, in
particular Darren Foreman as he completes his
three years as Chair of that Committee. We are
very pleased to congratulate Sophie Plagakis for
passing her Fellowship exam and wish her well
with her Fellowship year at Concord in Sydney.
The SA–PCCOC (Prostate Cancer Clinical
Outcomes Collaboration) with Kim Moretti as
Chair, continues to be well supported by the
SA membership, both with funding assistance
and recruitment of patients. Over 90% of new
diagnoses of prostate cancer are now captured
by the database – an enviable achievement. SAPCCOC continues to collaborate with PCOR – ANZ
(Prostate Cancer Outcomes Registry), a Movember
initiative. It has an international profile with papers
presented at the AUA and other international
meetings. Importantly, also, it remains an excellent
resource for trainees for research.
The SA State Section Meeting was held on
October 21, and was run successfully as a single
day meeting. It was well supported by the
Membership as well as by the trade. Samantha
Pillay was nominated as SA Section Chair for

R E P R E S E N TAT I V E A N D
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2018, and for that I wish her well. I have enjoyed
my time as SA Section Chair and thank my
colleagues for the opportunity.

Northern
Roger Watson
The Northern Section has continued with another
strong year. In October, the Section hosted a
well-supported sectional meeting in Brisbane,
with stimulating input from Lewis Chan and
David Gillatt. There was very good local scientific
support for the meeting, and an enjoyable
evening with dinner at the Gallery of Modern Art
overlooking the Brisbane river.
For the first time an award was presented in
honour of retiring Urologist, Professor RA Frank
Gardiner, in acknowledgement of his services
to Northern Section Urology. It is planned this
will continue as an annual award recognising
his research contributions and inspiration for
Queensland urology. The award this year went to
Dr Matthew Roberts for his presentation on novel
diagnostics in prostate cancer.
The Section recognises ongoing input from TA&E
committee, chaired by Stuart Philip. They have
continued to oversee a strong urological training
programme with further input from provincial
urological programs.
Congratulations to Northern Section candidates
in the Fellowship Examinations: Isaac
Thangasamy; Alex Yeates; and Jurjen Westera.
The Northern Section has planned its annual
meeting for 2018 in October, in Brisbane, with all
USANZ members welcome.

New South Wales
Rupert Ouyang
The NSW Section Meeting was held in Terrigal
2-4 November 2017. The scientific program
was organised by Dr Dominic Lee. This year Dr
Richard Link, Associate Professor from Baylor
College of Medicine, Houston, Texas, USA
was our international speaker who specialises
in upper tract pathology, minimally invasive
operations and stone disease. We also had Dr
Michael Rochford to talk about AUF, Dr Neil

Smith to share his experiences on penile fracture,
Associate Professor Dr Derek Chan to update
STIs. We had two sessions of case discussions
with pathologist Dr Fiona McLean, radiologist
Dr Suresh de Silva and medical oncologist
Dr Craig Geyde joining our panel. Dr Kieran
Beattie was the winner of George Schnitzler Prize
and Dr Marcus Handmer won the Chris Farrell
Award. We would like to thank all those who
attended and the generous support from the
trades.
Dr Ramin Samali is the next Section Chair for the
NSW Section.
Congratulations to Don Lee, Mark Liu, Nicola
Jeffery, Ranjan Arianayagam, Kieran Beatttie,
Joanna Dargan and Jinna Yao for passing the
Fellowship Exams.

New Zealand
Stephen Mark
Madhu Koya, Waitemata DHB was elected USANZ
Section leader at the Tauranga ASM. Andy Malcolm
takes over as Chair NZ TA&E committee. Thanks
to Jim Duthie for an excellent job as TEA Chair,
facilitating the NZ Section to the registrar selection
process. As Vice-President of USANZ, Stephen
Mark will continue to represent NZ at the quarterly
Board meetings. NZ welcomes back as consultants
Nadya York to Auckland, Jimmy Johnston to
Taranaki and Mike Vincent to Invercargill.
A successful Annual Section Meeting was held in
Tauranga with thanks to Liam Wilson and Pene
Meiklejohn for organising this. As tradition it
was combined with the NZUNS group and the
excellent social function remained the highlight.
The NZ bi-annual CD meeting was held in
conjunction with this where standardisation of
care was discussed. The Health Round Table
urology length of stay data was presented and
the final format of 6 monthly reports confirmed.
Christophe Chemasle from Palmerston North has
the job of organising the 2018 meeting.
A visiting professorship was agreed with Prof
Ted Arnold and Stu Gowland, funded from the
Urology Research Foundation. This will allow a 2-3
week visiting professor to attend 2 departments.
USANZ | 2017 Annual Report
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The Prostate Cancer Registry continues to be
rolled out nationally with agreements signed
to collect data from the 3 Auckland DHBs and
Wellington. The Ministry of Health has committed
to complete the Urology tumour standards this
year meaning probably some more resources
to urology. Suzanne Beuker, Nelson urologist is
employed part time by the MOH to assist with
implementation of cancer policies.
Two mega clinics were held in Dunedin where
prolonged waiting times made the news media.
A group of 12 urologists saw over 600 patients
in a weekend to reduce unacceptable wait times
with a follow up clinic 3 weeks later to deal
with patients who needed to be reviewed or
operated on urgently. USANZ chairs coordinated
this activity. This facilitated a meeting with the
Minister of Health from the newly elected Labour
Party where urology issues could be pressed at a
national level.

Tasmania
Frank Redwig
The Section welcomed the appointment of
the Launceston ex-registrar Mr Philip Tan as a
new consultant who commenced working in
Launceston in February 2017. His special interest
is laparoscopic partial nephrectomy / pyeloplasty
and radical prostatectomy.
Launceston based Mr Richard Cetti also passed
his FRACS during the year and continued
working at the Launceston General Hospital
with his special interest in supine PCNL and
urethroplasty. This has enabled cross referral of
patients from Hobart for consideration of these
particular procedures not routinely performed in
the south of the state.
During 2017 Dr Hedley Roth has been the
accredited trainee at the Launceston General
Hospital who will be succeeded by Dr Luke
Gibson in 2018.
At the Royal Hobart Hospital the major half a
billion dollar redevelopment construction works
have progressed well but have also caused
significant disruption of the clinical services
throughout 2017 and ongoing. Particularly, the
intermittent and repeated closures of parts of
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the operating theatres have led to a reduction of
theatre throughput and a consequent increase
of the urological surgical waiting list. This could
be partly counteracted by federally funded
outsourcing of public patients through the
private system.
In November 2017 Mr Ian Middleton convened a
successful Tasmanian Section ASM in Hobart. The
invited guest speaker Mr Phil Stricker contributed
greatly to the scientific program.
At the AGM Mr Stephen Brough was
unanimously elected as my successor as the
next Tasmanian Section Chair and Tasmanian
Representative on the USANZ Board of Directors
for the three year term following the USANZ
AGM later in February 2018.
Mr Raj Gogia was elected as the next Convenor
of the 2018 Tasmanian ASM in Hobart. However,
Mr Gogia later tendered his apologies and Mr
Philip Tan kindly agreed to convene the ASM in
the north of the state in 2018.

Western Australia
Jeff Thavaseelan
WA held a very successful sectional meeting at
Bunker Bay in October. This was convened by
Dr Tanya Ha, with guest speakers Simon Bariol,
Johan Gani and Daniel Moon. The educational
component was excellent with many interesting
topics presented by our guest speakers, local
urologists and registrars. Equally important as
the educational component, the weekend was
a chance for our members and their families,
registrars, nurses and trade to catch up and
socialise. The Saturday night dinner was held
at Cape Clairault Winery. The theme of “Your
Favourite Decade” brought out some fabulous
costumes and dancing styles!
Congratulations to our local trainee Dr Kara
McDermott who successfully passed her
fellowship exam in 2017.
For many years WA members have been
contributing to a local Prostate Cancer Database
run by Uropath and Dr Ronnie Cohen. In 2017
we decided that we would also contribute to the
Movember Prostate Cancer Registry which we are
in the early phases of joining.

AU S T R A L A S I A N U R O L O G I C A L
F O U N D AT I O N R E P O R T
Australasian Urological Foundation
Michael Rochford, Chair
Reporting Activities During 2017

The financial position of the Foundation is secure
and has remained stable throughout 2017.
The Foundation has had to amend its Deed
during 2017 to comply with the requirement of
the new governing body for registered charities. It
must state that one of the aims of the Foundation
must be for the Promotion of Health.
Travel Grants
Eight grants awarded in 2017 for 2017-2018 to the
following urologists:
Nicholas Brook
Sam Chopra
Kylie Gallagher
Nicola Jeffery
Won Gee Lee
Shiva Nair
Saluja Manmeet

Keith Kirkland and Villis Marshall Prizes
The AUF sponsored these prizes at $2,500 each.
They were awarded to the following recipients at
the 2017 ASM in Canberra, ACT:
Keith Kirkland Prize – Amila Siriwardana
Villis Marshall Prize – Marlon Perera
The AUF will sponsor these prizes at $2,500 each
to be awarded at the 2018 ASM in Melbourne,
Victoria.
Registrar Grants for CLEAR Course
Grants covering costs of the CLEAR Course are
paid to those Registrars who have attended
the CLEAR Course in 2017 and have applied
Foundation for reimbursement.
The Financial Statements to 31st December 2017
are still in preparation.
Under new government provisions the status of
the Foundation is undergoing change as it comes
under the control of the ACNC.
Available Funds as at 31 December 2016 was
$2.974 million.

Foundation Speaker at the USANZ ASM

The Board would like to thank all members who
make donations to the Foundation, which is for
the benefit of all members of the Society.

For 2017 the Foundation sponsored as a guest
speaker Dr Stephen Brandes from Columbia
University Medical School for the ASM in
Canberra.

The present directors of the Trust are:
M.J. Rochford (Chair), W.J. Lynch (Secretary
Treasurer), S. Ruthven, D. Winkle, H. Woo,
and S. Mark.

Kapil Sethi
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USANZ Prizes and Awards
Keith Kirkland and Villis Marshall Prizes
These awards are presented for the best
presentations by SET Urology trainees in the
Keith Kirkland / Villis Marshall session at the
Annual Scientific Meeting. The Keith Kirkland
Award is for the best presentation of research
undertaken in a clinical environment and the
Villis Marshall Award is for the best presentation
of research undertaken in a full time academic /
scientific environment.
The prize consists of a cash prize of $1,000 from
USANZ and an AUF Travelling Fellowship to the
value of $2,500 to present their work overseas.
Alban Gee Award
This is an award provided by USANZ for the
best poster by a USANZ Member (including
SET Urology Trainees) at the Annual Scientific
Meeting. The award consists of a cash prize of
$500 from USANZ.

Christchurch Medal
USANZ introduced the Christchurch Medal
to recognise urologists who demonstrated
outstanding acts for the benefit of others
immediately following the devastating
earthquake on 22 February 2011 in
Christchurch, New Zealand. The criteria are:
a) Christchurch Medal for Bravery is
awarded for acts of bravery in hazardous
circumstances, where the nominee risked
personal injury and/or death to save the life
or render assistance to someone in need.
b) Christchurch Medal for Community Service
is awarded in recognition of urologists
who have given exceptional community
service, where the nominee has substantially
contributed to the improvement of the
quality of life of members of a community
through humanitarian endeavours.

2017 Award Winners

BAUS Trophy

Keith Kirkland Prize

This award is provided by USANZ for the
Best Scientific Podium presentation by a Full
Member of USANZ at the Annual Scientific
Meeting. The recipient’s name will be engraved
on the BAUS Trophy alongside the names of all
previous BAUS prize recipients. This award also
includes complimentary registration to attend
the BAUS Annual Meeting the follow year.

Amila Siriwardana

Low-Arnold Award in Female and Functional
Urology

Handoo Rhee

This award is for the best podium or poster
presentation in the field of Female or Functional
Urology presented at the meeting by a Full
Member of USANZ. The award consists of a $1500
cash prize provided by the sponsor Allergan.
AbbVie Platinum Trophy
The Platinum Trophy is for the best endeavour
presented by a Full Member of USANZ. The
prize includes a Trophy and free registration
for the USANZ Annual Scientific Meeting the
following year.
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Villis Marshall Research Prize
Marlon Perera
Alban Gee Award
Jeremy Grummet
BAUS Trophy
Low-Arnold Award in Female
and Functional urology
Lewis Chan
Platinum Trophy
Richard Grills
Christchurch Medal for
Community Service
Catherine DeVries (presented at AUA 2017)
Ru MacDonagh
(to be presented as USANZ ASM 2018)

AG M AG E N DA

Agenda
71st Annual General Meeting of the Urological Society of Australia and New Zealand,
to be held at 4.15pm, Saturday 24 February 2018 in Room 213, Melbourne Convention
Centre, Melbourne, VIC, Australia.
1. Present
2. Apologies
3. Minutes of the 70th Annual General Meeting held at 4.15pm on Friday 24 February
2017 at the National Convention Centre, Canberra ACT.
4. Business arising from the minutes
5. President’s Report
6. Chief Executive’s Report
7. Secretary’s Report
8. Treasurer’s Report
9. Annual reports of the Society
9.1 Board of Urology (Melvyn Kuan)
9.2 Continuing Professional Development (Peter Heathcote)
9.3 Royal Australasian College of Surgeons (Mark Frydenberg)
9.4 Annual Scientific Meeting 2017 (Nathan Lawrentschuk)
9.5 Annual Scientific Meeting 2018 (Nathan Lawrentschuk)
9.6 Annual Scientific Meeting 2019 (Peter Burke)
9.7 Australasian Urological Foundation (Michael Rochford)
10. Special Resolution to amend the USANZ Constitution
To consider and, if thought fit, to pass the following resolution as a special resolution:
“That the Society’s existing constitution be modified in accordance with the
amendments marked-up and set out in Annexure A of this notice of Annual General
Meeting, and otherwise in accordance with the explanatory memorandum.”
11. General business
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MINUTES
Minutes of the 70th Annual General Meeting of the Urological Society of Australia
and New Zealand held at 4.15pm on Friday 24 February 2017
at the Menzies Room, National Convention Centre, Canberra ACT
1

Present
Paul Anderson, Edwin Arnold, Borjana Barth, Philip Bergersen, Janelle Brennan, Stephen Brough,
Ashani Couchman, Alan Crosthwaite, Lachlan Dodds, Caroline Dowling, Sandra Elmer, Darren
Foreman, Mark Frydenberg (Chair), Robert Gardiner, Troy Gianduzzo, Richard Grills, Lawrence
Hayden, Peter Heathcote, Melvyn Kuan, Nathan Lawrentschuk, Stephen Lindsay, Mark Lloyd,
Giovanni Losco, Christopher Love, Finlay Macneil, Stephen Mark, Daniel Marshall, David Mason,
Karen McKertich, Donald Murphy, Anthony Nixon, Gordon O’Neill, Stuart Philip, Morgan Pokorny,
John Preston, Prem Rashid, Handoo Rhee, Richard Robinson, John Rogerson, Richard Savdie,
Shomik Sengupta, Rodney Studd, Kenneth Vaux, Ian Vela, Audrey Wang, David Rowan Webb,
Robert Wines, David Winkle, James Wong.
Proxies: Denby Steele gave his proxy to the Chair, Andrew Richards – to the Chair.
In attendance: M Nugara (CEO); N Danes (COO); M Bennison (GSC – Minutes); V Parkinson; D Klein.

2

Apologies
Andrew Richards, Denby Steele, Michael Wines.

3

Welcome
The Chairman declared the meeting opened at 4.15pm.
Quorum
“No business shall be transacted at any general meeting unless a quorum of members is present
in person which shall not be less than 5% of all Full Members of the USANZ.”
There being greater than the requisite 5% of all Full Members present, the meeting was declared
quorate. (As at 16 February 2017, the number of Full Members of USANZ totalled 521. Therefore
at least 26 members were required to be present to achieve a quorum).
Eligibility to Vote
All current financial Full Members and Fellows of the Society are eligible to vote at the Urological
Society of Australia and New Zealand’s Annual General Meeting.
Declaration of Conflict of Interest
“Any member who has a direct or indirect pecuniary or non-pecuniary interest in a matter
being considered, or about to be considered at the Annual General Meeting shall, as soon as
practicable after the relevant facts come to the member’s knowledge, disclose the nature of that
interest.”
The Chair must cause the declaration to be recorded in the Minutes of the meeting.
A member who has a conflict of interest in a matter must not be present during any deliberations
by on the matter and is not entitled to vote on the matter.”
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4

Minutes from the previous Annual General Meeting
Resolution:
That the minutes of the 69th Annual General Meeting held on Saturday 16 April 2016 at the Gold
Coast Convention Centre, Queensland be approved as a true and accurate record of the meeting.
Moved: Frank Gardiner

5

Seconded: Stephen Mark

CARRIED

Business Arising from the Minutes
Nil

6

President’s Report
The President’s report was taken as read. Mark Frydenberg, President, highlighted the key work
undertaken during the year including work undertaken with the government at both State and
Federal levels on issues such as the MBS Review.
He also reported on the development of benefits for membership on three main platforms:
surgical registries, BJUI Knowledge for CPD and EAU membership. He reported that there were
still some issues with the governance and consent processes but that he anticipated the registry
will commence within the next couple of months. He also noted that some members have not
yet given their consent to provide their information to BJUI and EAU and so have not yet been
able to access those member benefits. He encouraged everyone to provide their consent via their
member profile on the USANZ website.
There were no questions from the floor on the President’s Report.
Resolution:
That the President’s report be accepted.
Moved: Frank Gardiner

7

Seconded: Finlay Macneil

CARRIED

Report of Chief Executive Officer
Michael Nugara, CEO spoke to the written CEO report. He reported that during the year the
Board established the Investments Committee and adoption of an Investment Policy, with the
primary aim of maximising returns while protecting the capital base. He confirmed that while it is
still in its infancy, USANZ was looking to improve returns in the coming years.
The CEO also reported on the success of the ASM held at the Gold Coast Convention Centre.
He acknowledged the considerable effort by the Convenor Prem Rashid and Scientific Program
Director, Peter Chin. The meeting was well attended with in excess of 900 delegates.
There were no questions for the CEO from the floor.
Resolution:
That the Chief Executive Officer’s be accepted.
Moved: Melvyn Kuan

Seconded: Lawrence Hayden

CARRIED
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8

Secretary’s Report
David Winkle, Secretary, spoke to the written report and acknowledged the changes in
membership that had occurred during 2016. He also acknowledged the members who had served
USANZ for over 30 years.
Resolution:
That the Secretary’s report be accepted.
Moved: Frank Gardiner

9

Seconded: Melvyn Kuan

CARRIED

Treasurer’s Report
Michael Nugara, CEO, spoke to the Treasurer’s report. He reported that sponsorship is down
approx. $72K on the previous year, mainly due to the retraction of the sponsorship market. He
confirmed that the total revenue remained strong and stable. He confirmed that expenses had
increased, primarily due to the introduction of member benefits and costs associated with the
Registry, and that the increase would continue into 2017 as full member benefits and the Registry
are rolled out.
There were no questions on the Treasurer’s Report.
Resolution:
That the Treasurer’s report be accepted.
Moved: Frank Gardiner

10

Seconded: Melvyn Kuan

CARRIED

Annual Reports of the Society
10.1 Board of Urology
Melvyn Kuan spoke to the Board of Urology report and drew members’ attention to the mandatory
RACS training requirements.
Mark Frydenberg thanked Melvyn Kuan and the Board of Urology for the enormous amount of
work they undertook during the year.
Resolution:
That the Board of Urology report be taken as read and accepted.
Moved: Stuart Philip
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Seconded: Prem Rashid

CARRIED

MINUTES
10.2 Continued Professional Development
Mark Frydenberg, President, spoke to the written report. He advised that PCOR ANZ has gone to
great lengths to ensure that certification requirements align with RACS CPD requirements. He also
confirmed that PCOR ANZ is accepted as an official audit activity under RACS CPD.
The President advised that BJUI Knowledge is in the process of implementing a mechanism that
will ensure that once online modules had been completed by members, they would automatically
be uploaded to the RACS CPD system on a quarterly basis.
10.3 RACS Speciality Representative Report
The RACS Speciality Representative Report was taken as read.
10.4 Annual Scientific Meetings
• Gold Coast 2016, Canberra 2017, Melbourne 2018
No update provided.
• Annual Scientific Meeting Canberra 2017
10.5 Australasian Urological Foundation
The Australasian Urological Foundation report was taken as read.
Resolution:
That the Annual Reports of the Society be taken as read and accepted.
Moved: Finlay Macneil
11

Seconded: Frank Gardiner

CARRIED

General Business
Mark Frydenberg noted that this was his last AGM as President and thanked members for the
opportunity and honour to represent them. He also thanked David Winkle who was leaving the
position of Past-President for his six years of service on the Board of Directors and for his prior
years as a SAG leader. Mark also congratulated and welcomed Peter Heathcote and Stephen Mark
as the new President and Vice-President respectively.
Meeting closed 4.55pm
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SPE C IA L R E S OLU T ION : A M E N DM E N T
OF EXISTING CONSTITUTION
Explanatory memorandum
The purpose of this is to consider and, if thought
fit, to approve a resolution to amend the Society’s
existing constitution so that it reflects the current
operations of the Society.
The key changes are set out in the table below.

Annexure A contains a marked-up full version of
the proposed amendments to the constitution.
If the special resolution is passed by the
members of the Society, the marked-up
amendments to the Constitution take effect
on the day of member approval at the Annual
General Meeting.

Relevant clause in the
Society’s constitution

Reasons for amendment

Clause 3 (i)

The term Sections was defined to remove ambiguity.

Clause 7

Member categories “Honorary Associate” and “Honorary Visiting” were
deleted as the Society no longer has these categories.

Clause 15 (A)

The words “or any other approved urological society” were deleted to align
the definition in the Society Constitution with the requirements under USANZ’s
Society Award guidelines.

Clause 15 (F)

There are no existing members in the “Corresponding Member - UAA”
classification, hence this was deleted. The Society notes that future applicants
may be managed through the Society’s discount policy.

Clause 15 (G) and (I)

Associate Medical Members and Associate Scientific Members were combined
into one classification - “Associate Scientific Member”. This will have minimal
impact on existing members whilst achieving operational efficiencies.

Clause 15 (L)

The Research Member classification was removed as it will be addressed in the
Society’s discount policy. This amendment increases operational efficiencies
and gives the Board more discretion over the cost of Research Members’
entitlements.

Clause 15 (M)

The Overseas Member classification was removed as it will be addressed in the
Society’s discount policy. This amendment increases operational efficiencies
and gives the Board more discretion over the cost of Overseas Members’
entitlements.
It is noted that the Society’s Board will address the treatment of existing Full
Members Overseas, who do not meet the requirements for Full Member (i.e.
are not residents).

Clause 17

The Board seeks to expand the endorsement requirements in regards to the
Corresponding Member classification to allow for an application to become a
Corresponding Member to be accompanied by a letter from an international
urological association (other than Australia or New Zealand) recognised
and approved by USANZ in its discretion, from time to time, endorsing the
application and confirming the applicant’s current membership category and
membership status.
In the existing constitution, members of international associations who do not
have Australian contacts are unable to meet the requirements of clause 17.
The proposed amendment to clause 17 will enhance USANZ’s ability to attract
international members.
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Relevant clause in the
Society’s constitution

Reasons for amendment

Clause 26

Due to the removal of the member classifications detailed above, USANZ
will either have to increase membership fees for some members to meet the
additional costs of providing benefits to all Full Members, or absorb the cost.
Rather than increasing subscription fees to cover the shortfall, the Board seeks
to achieve the same (or similar) fee structure via the Society’s discount policy.
This would mean there needs to be additional flexibility in the constitution
for the Board to be able to limit member benefits should a member take up a
discount.
Further, the proposed change to clause 26 provides the USANZ Board the
discretion to determine which members are eligible for particular rights.
The details would be best detailed in an internal policy document (i.e. the
Society’s discount policy) and not the constitution, which should be notified
to the member at the time of their application. This is because changes to the
constitution require a special resolution.

Clause 28

Clause 28 was amended to become more precise.

Clause 30

Clause 30 was amended such that membership terminates ipso facto:
a) upon the death of a member;
b) if the member commits an indictable offence;
c) if the member becomes bankrupt or insolvent or makes any assignment of
his or her property for the benefit of his or her creditors generally; or
d) if the member ceases to be registered as a medical practitioner except
where such ceasing to be registered has been voluntary on the part of the
member.
Further, the proposed amendments to Clause 30 provide the USANZ Board
with the discretion to terminate the membership of:
a) members who bring USANZ into disrepute; and
b) members who conduct affairs for or on behalf of USANZ:
i) in breach of Board policy; or
ii) beyond the delegation of authority granted by the Board.
Moreover, decisions of the USANZ Board made under Clause 30 are final (in
the absence of manifest error) and cannot be disputed or appealed.

Clause 37 and
throughout the
Constitution

All references to a Chairman were changed to Chair to introduce genderneutral language.

Clause 44

The existing clause is unclear as to whether a Full Member who has retired and
is now a Senior has the entitlement to vote.
The propose amendment now ensures that Senior Full Members are entitled
to vote.
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Relevant clause in the
Society’s constitution

Reasons for amendment

Clause 46 (c)

Honorary Secretary was added to the Past-President role in order to reflect
current practice.

Clause 46 (e)

The Board of Directors, as part of its review and improvements to governance
practices, identified that the functions of the Policy Chair were being met
through other mechanisms including Board Subcommittees and the Speciality
Advisory Groups. Removing a dedicated Policy Committee Chair role from
the Constitution provides the greater flexibility required in developing and
reviewing a broad range of public position statements and organisational
policies and realises cost savings and efficiency gains.

Clause 46 (f)

This clause was clarified to distinguish between the Board and the Board of
Urology.

Clause 46 (g)

This clause was clarified to reflect the correct title of the Speciality Elected
Royal Australasian College of Surgeons (RACS) Councillor.

Clause 54

This clause was removed as the Honorary Secretary role is now included in the
Past-President’s role. This clause related to the Policy Chair.

Clause 55

The amendment to the Board of Urology Chair are to clarify that the
appointment responsibility rests with the RACS Board of Urology, and not
USANZ members.
The term of appointment in Clause 55(d) has been updated to reflect the
tenure of the Chair on the RACS Board of Urology.

Clause 56 (a)

Similar reason as above. The proposed amendment will clarify that the election
of the RACS Councillor is by RACS members, not USANZ members.

Clause 56 (d)

The proposed clause 56(d) extends the maximum number of consecutive
terms for the RACS Councillor position from two terms to three terms to align
with the term of appointment by RACS.

Clause 60

The wording in the proposed Clause 60 is in plain English and is less complex
than the existing wording in Clause 60.

Clause 77

The word “section” was replaced by the word “clause”. This removes potential
confusion with USANZ Sections.
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to the constitution
Marked-up full version of the proposed
amendments
the constitution
Constitution Of The Urological Society of Australia
and NewtoZealand
Corporations Act 2001
COMPANY LIMITED BY GUARANTEE AND NOT HAVING A SHARE CAPITAL
Constitution
Of
The Urological Society of Australia and New Zealand
1.

The name of the Association is "THE UROLOGICAL SOCIETY OF AUSTRALIA AND
NEW ZEALAND", (hereinafter referred to as "USANZ").

2.

Definitions
(a)

"the Act" means the Corporations Act 2001 (Cth) or any statutory modification

amendments or re-enactment thereof for the time being in force and any reference to a
particular provision of the Act shall unless otherwise indicated in this Constitution be
deemed to be a reference to that provision as amended or re-enacted or replaced from
time to time;
(b)

"Special Resolution" has the meaning assigned to it by the Act;

(c)

"The Office" means the registered office for the time being of the USANZ;

(d)
"The Board of Directors" means the members for the time being of the Board
of Directors hereby constituted;
(e)
the Act;

"The Register" means the Register of Members to be kept in pursuance of

(f)

"in writing" or "written" include every mode of representing or reproducing

words in a visible form.
3.

The objects for which the USANZ is established are:
(a)

To advance the science of urology.

(b)

To cultivate and maintain the highest principles of urological practice and

ethics.
(c)

To promote the practice of urology by securing the improvement of hospitals

and hospital methods.
(d)

To arrange for post-graduate training in urology at universities, hospitals and

elsewhere and to provide for the holding of classes lectures and meetings and other
means of instructing members and others in the science of urology.
USANZ | 2017 Annual Report

58

ANNEXURE A: MARKED-UP FULL VERSION OF THE
PROPOSED AMENDMENTS TO THE CONSTITUTION
CONSTITUTION OF THE UROLO GICAL SO CIET Y OF AUSTRALIA AND NEW ZEAL AND
(e)
To promote research in urology and in any other branch of science and
learning for the purpose of improving the practice of urology.
(f)
To bring together the urologists of Australia and New Zealand and other parts
of the world for discussion and demonstration of urological subjects.
(g)
To acquire by purchase, donation or otherwise a library of works relating to or
having a bearing upon the science of urology, and to provide, establish, conduct and
carry on reading, writing, debating, lecture, experimental and or demonstrating rooms
or places with such conveniences as may be deemed desirable therefor.
(h)
To take disciplinary action by expulsion, suspension, censure or otherwise
against members of the USANZ in the interests of the members as a whole and the
medical profession generally.
(i)
To establish Ssections of the USANZ in Australia and New Zealand to
conduct scientific activities in accordance with these objects (Sections).
(j)

To afford means of adjusting professional differences to which one or more

members of the USANZ may be a party or parties and to decide all questions of usage
or courtesy in connection with matters relating to the practice of urology.
(k)

To promote professional good feeling and friendly intercourse and

relationships amongst the members.
(l)
To undertake and execute any trusts the undertaking whereof may be
calculated to advance the science or practice of urology and to contribute to or
otherwise assist in charitable or benevolent institutions or undertakings.
(m)

To acquire and hold real and personal property by gift, devise, bequest,

purchase, subscription or otherwise (but as regards land subject to the provisions of the
Act) and to sell, exchange, lease, mortgage or otherwise deal with the same
respectively and (subject to Clause 4 hereof) to appropriate, distribute and spend the
same and the rents, issues and profits, dividends and income thereof and every or any
part or parts thereof and any moneys arising from the selling, exchanging, leasing,
mortgaging, converting or otherwise dealing therewith as aforesaid.
(n)
In case the USANZ shall take or hold any property which may be subject to
any trusts the USANZ shall only deal with the same in such manner as allowed by law
having regard to such trusts.
(o)

To invest the moneys of the USANZ not immediately required in such manner

as may from time to time be determined.
(p)

To borrow raise and secure the repayment of money in such manner as the

Board of Directors shall think fit and in particular by the issue of debentures charged
upon all or any part or parts of the property or rights of the USANZ both present or
future.
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(q)
In furtherance of the objects of the USANZ to amalgamate or affiliate with any
other society or Association or concern having objects altogether or in part similar to
those of the USANZ provided that in the case of amalgamation such other Association,
society or concern shall prohibit the distribution of its income and property among its
members to an extent at least as great as is imposed on the USANZ under or by virtue
of Clause 4 hereof.
(r)

In furtherance of the objects of the USANZ and subject to Clause 4 hereof to

carry on business as proprietors, printers and publishers of newspapers, journals,
magazines, books and other literary works and undertakings and to establish
competitions in respect of the contributions or information suitable for mention in any
publication and to grant and offer prizes rewards and premiums of such a character and
on such terms as may seem expedient.
(s)

To draw, make, accept, endorse, discount, execute and issue cheques,

promissory notes, bills of exchange, debentures and other documents.
(t)

To appoint from time to time either with full or restricted powers of sub-

delegation and either with or without remuneration (subject nevertheless to Clause 4
hereof) agents, attorneys, local directors or other persons or corporations under power
of attorney or otherwise within the Australia and New Zealand or elsewhere for the
purpose of carrying out all or any of the objects of the USANZ and to revoke and cancel
all or any of such appointments or sub-delegations.
(u)

To do all such other lawful things as are incidental or conducive to the

attainment of the above objects including power for the USANZ subject to the Act to
accept gifts of money or property under conditions that the same shall be applied to any
one or more of the objects of the USANZ.
(v)

Provided that the USANZ shall not support with its funds any object or

endeavour to impose on or procure to be observed by its members or others any
regulation or restriction which if an object of the USANZ would make it a trade union.
AND IT IS HEREBY DECLARED that in the interpretation of this clause the meaning of any
of the USANZ’s objects shall not unless the context shall otherwise require be restricted by
reference to any other object or by the juxtaposition of two or more objects and that in the
event of any ambiguity this clause shall be construed in such a way as to widen and not to
restrict the powers of the USANZ.
4.

The income and property of the USANZ whencesoever derived shall be applied solely towards
the promotion of the objects of the USANZ as set forth in this Constitution and no portion
thereof shall be paid or transferred directly or indirectly by way of dividend, bonus or
otherwise by way of profit to the members of the USANZ PROVIDED that nothing herein
shall prevent the payment in good faith of remuneration to any officers or servants of the
USANZ or to any member in return for any services actually rendered to the USANZ. No
member of the Board of Directors or governing body of the USANZ shall be appointed to any
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salaried office of the USANZ or any office of the USANZ paid by fees and no remuneration
or other benefit in money or money's worth shall be given by the USANZ to any member of
the Board of Directors except re-payment of out-of-pocket expenses USANZ. The preceding
provisions of this Clause shall not apply to prevent the gratuitous distribution among, or sale
at a discount to, members of the USANZ of any books or other publications whether
published by the USANZ or otherwise relating to all or any of its objects as set out above nor
to prevent any member who may be a successful competitor or exhibitor at any competition
or exhibition or examination held or promoted by the USANZ under these objects or to the
cost of establishing or holding of which the USANZ may have subscribed out of its income or
property from receiving as such competitor or exhibitor a prize medal or other recognition
which may under the regulations affecting the said competition exhibition or examination be
awarded to him or her.
5.

The place in New South Wales in which the registered office of the USANZ is proposed to be
situated is Sydney.

6.

The liability of the members is limited.

7.

Every member other than an Honorary, Honorary Associate or Honorary Visiting Member
undertakes to contribute to the assets of the USANZ in the event of the same being wound up
during the time that he or she is a member or within one year afterwards for payment of the
debts and liabilities of the USANZ contracted before the time at which he or she ceases to be
a member and of the costs charges and expenses of winding up the same and for the
adjustment of the rights of the contributories amongst themselves such amount as may be
required not exceeding the annual membership fee plus $500.

8.

If upon winding up or dissolution of the USANZ there remains, after the satisfaction of all its
debts and liabilities any money or property the same shall not be paid to, or distributed
among, the members of the USANZ but shall be given or transferred to some other institution
or institutions having objects similar to the objects of the USANZ and which shall prohibit the
distribution of its or their income and property among its or their members to an extent at least
as great as is imposed on the USANZ under or by virtue of Clause 4 hereof, such institution or
institutions to be determined by the members of the USANZ at or before the time of dissolution
and in default thereof by the Supreme Court of the State of New South Wales or such other
Court as may have or acquire jurisdiction in the matter. If effect cannot be given to the above,
then to some charitable object.

9.

True accounts shall be kept of the sums of money received and expended by the USANZ and
the matters in respect of which such receipt and expenditure takes place and of the property
credits and liabilities of the USANZ and subject to any reasonable restrictions as to the time
and manner of inspection that may be imposed in accordance with the Constitution of the
USANZ for the time being in force, the same shall be open to inspection of members. Once
at least every year the accounts of the USANZ shall be examined and the correctness of the
balance sheet ascertained by one or more properly qualified Auditor or Auditors.
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10. No addition, alteration or amendment shall be made to the Constitution for the time being in
force unless the same shall have been submitted to and approved by the Board of Directors.
11. In this Constitution when any provision of the Act is referred to, the reference is to such
provision as modified by any law for the time being in force.

12. This Association (hereinafter called the USANZ) for the purposes of registration but not by way
of limitation is declared to consist of one hundred members.

13. The Board of Directors may whenever the business of the USANZ requires it register an
increase of the members.
MEMBERSHIP
14. The subscribers to this Constitution and such other persons as shall have agreed to be bound
by this Constitution, shall be admitted to membership in accordance with the provisions of the
Constitution, and none others, shall be members of the USANZ and shall be entered in
Register accordingly.
15. Membership of the USANZ shall be limited to persons who are or have been engaged in the
practice of urology, or take a special interest in urology and there shall be the following
classes of membership which are limited as follows:
(A) FELLOW:
To persons who are Full Members of the Society or any other approved urological society
and who have in the opinion of the Board of Directors rendered distinguished service to
the Society and the practice of urology.
(B) FULL MEMBER:
To surgeons resident in Australia or New Zealand and who practise exclusively or having
retired and at the time of retirement having practised exclusively the specialty of urology
and who hold the diploma of Fellowship of the Royal Australasian College of Surgeons
(FRACS) in Urology or a degree or diploma whose training requirements are judged by the
Board of Directors to be the equivalent of the FRACS (Urology), provided that except in
cases judged by the Board of Directors to be special, an applicant for Full Membership
must be a Trainee Member of at least three years standing or a Provisional Member of at
least three years standing.
(C) PROVISIONAL MEMBER
To surgeons resident in Australia or New Zealand and who, with a view to practising or
continuing to practise the specialty of urology and who hold a diploma of Fellowship of the
Royal Australasian College of Surgeons in Urology (FRACS (Urology)) and who have
been a trainee member for fewer than three years or who hold a degree or diploma whose
training requirements are, in the opinion of the Board of Directors, the equivalent of the
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FRACS (Urology), provided that except in cases judged by the Board of Directors to be
special, no person shall be a provisional member for more than five years.
Note – International Medical Graduates (IMGs): IMGs working under oversight may
have their 'oversight time' as an Associate Urological Member (AUM) recognised, so that
this period is taken off the three year period as a Provisional Member (PM). (Board of
Directors Resolution November 2009)
(D) TRAINEE MEMBER
To registered medical practitioners resident in Australia or New Zealand and who are
formally associated with the advanced training programme of the Royal Australasian
College of Surgeons in Urology leading to the diploma of Fellowship of the Royal
Australasian College of Surgeons in Urology and have not been awarded that diploma.
(E) CORRESPONDING MEMBER
To practising urologists who are full members of another recognized Urological
Association in a country other than Australia or New Zealand and who have an interest in
urology in
Australasia.
F) CORRESPONDING MEMBER - UAA
To practising urologists who are full members of the Urological Association of Asia (UAA)
and who have an interest in urology in Australasia.

(FG) ASSOCIATE UROLOGICAL MEMBER
To registered medical practitioners resident in Australia or New Zealand and who have
some approved qualification or qualifications in urology that in the opinion of the Board of
Directors is not equivalent to the diploma of Fellowship of the Royal Australasian College
of Surgeons in Urology and whose medical practice is at least two-thirds in the field of
urology.
Note – International Medical Graduates (IMGs): IMGs working under oversight may
have their 'oversight time' as an Associate Urological Member (AUM) recognised, so that
this period is taken off the three year period as a Provisional Member (PM). (Board of
Directors Resolution November 2009)
(G) ASSOCIATE MEDICAL MEMBERS
To registered medical practitioners resident in Australia or New Zealand and who are a
member of an approved non-urological medical society in Australia or New Zealand and
who have an interest in continuing education in urology.
(GI) ASSOCIATE SCIENTIFIC MEMBERS
To residents of Australia and New Zealand who are:
i)

scientists who do not practise urology but who are actively interested in some phase

ii)

or aspect of urology;. and
registered medical practitioners who are a member of an approved non-urological
medical society in Australia or New Zealand and who have an interest in continuing
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(HJ) HONORARY MEMBER
To persons who, in the opinion of the Board of Directors, have made a distinguished
contribution to urology or the Society.
(IK) SENIOR MEMBER
A Member in the class of Full Member or Associate Urological Member or Associate
Medical Member or Associate Scientific Member may be classified as “Senior Full
Member”, “Senior Associate Urological Member” , “Senior Associate Medical Member”\ or
“Senior Associate Scientific Member” respectively upon successful application by the
member to the Board of Directors after the member has fully retired from practice or has
had thirty years membership in their respective class or in other cases as determined by
the Board of Directors.
(L)

RESEARCH MEMBER

Trainee Members and Full Members, upon application to the Board of Directors, may be granted
Research Member status for a period not exceeding three years while undertaking a university
research higher degree in a field related to urology. Each Society member is limited to three years in
this membership category during their lifetime.
(M)
OVERSEAS MEMBER
A Member in the class of Full Member or Associate Urological Member may be classified as “Full
Member Overseas” or Associate Urological Member Overseas” respectively if the member is
temporarily resident in a single country other than Australia or New Zealand and if the absence is for
a continuous period of more than six months. Like other changes in membership class, an application
to the Board of Directors is required.
16. Every application for membership or change of membership shall be accompanied or
supported by such evidence as the Board of Directors may require of the qualifications of the
applicant to be a member of the class to which he or she seeks admission. The Board of
Directors shall have the power to reject or suspend an application for any class of
membership or change of membership without assigning any reason thereof.
17.
(a) An application for admission to any class of membership of the USANZ (excluding
Corresponding Members) must be signed by the applicant, and the admission of the
applicant to membership must be proposed and then seconded by two members of
the USANZ, who shall be Full Members or Fellows of the USANZ or a Full Member
and a Fellow of the USANZ.
(b) An application for admission to become a Corresponding Member must be signed by
the applicant, and the admission of the applicant to membership must:
i. Be proposed and then seconded by two members of USANZ who
shall be Full Members or Fellows, or a Full member and a Fellow; or
ii. Be accompanied by a letter from an international urological
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association (other than Australia or New Zealand) recognised and
approved by USANZ in its discretion, from time to time, endorsing the
application and confirming the applicant's current membership
category and membership status.

PROCEDURE OF BOARD OF DIRECTORS ON ELECTION OF A FELLOW
18. Any resolution moved before the Board of Directors that an eligible urologist shall be elected as
a Fellow shall be decided on a show of hands unless (before or on the declaration of the result
of a show of hands) a poll is demanded by one member of the Board of Directors present in
person or by proxy entitled to vote. Any such resolution shall be negatived if a majority of
votes are not in favour of the resolution or if there be two adverse votes. The taking of a poll
under this clause shall be regulated in the same manner as is provided by this Constitution in
respect of a poll at a general meeting.
19. Not less than three days prior to the meeting of the Board of Directors at which any proposed
resolution mentioned in the preceding clause is to be put to the vote, the Secretary shall in
writing notify the members of the Board of Directors of such proposed resolution and the date,
time and place of the meeting.
ADMISSION TO MEMBERSHIP
20. An applicant for membership of any class whose application has been refused shall not be
entitled to re-apply for membership of the same or a higher class until after the expiration of
twelve calendar months from the date of the refusal.
21. Upon election to the membership, each Member shall commit to pay any entrance fee, annual
subscription or any other fees that may be payable from time to time.
22. The Secretary shall notify in writing any newly elected member of such election and the said
subscribers of the class of membership to which they have been admitted and request them
to pay any entrance fee and first annual subscription. Until such payment has been made no
member shall be entitled to any rights and privileges as such member. If such member fails to
make such payment within two months of the Secretary's request he or she shall cease to be
and be deemed never to have become a member of the USANZ.
23.

The Secretary shall publicise to all members of the USANZ the election of any new member to
any class.
REGISTER OF MEMBERS

24.

There shall be kept in the office under the control of the Board of Directors a Register wherein
shall be entered the name and address of each member and his or her class of membership.
ENTRANCE FEE AND SUBSCRIPTION
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25. Members of every class shall be liable to pay such entrance fees annual subscriptions and
fines for late payment of entrance fees or annual subscriptions as may from time to time have
been determined in respect of each such class of members by the Board of Directors, and
such fees subscriptions and fines shall be payable on such day or days as may be fixed by
the Board of Directors. No such member whose entrance fee subscription or fine is unpaid at
the date of the Annual General Meeting shall be permitted to vote at such meeting.
26. The Board of Directors may exempt a member from the payment of the whole or a proportion of
the subscription fixed by or under this Constitution for such period or periods as the Board of
Directors shall think fit. A member who has been exempted from payment of the whole or a
proportion of a subscription under this clause shall enjoy the sameonly have such limited
rights under this Constitution (including limited or no right to vote and limited or no right to
exercise all other rights and privileges attributable to his or her membership) for such period
or periods as the Board of Directors shall think fit).as if he or she had not been exempted from
such payment.
TERMINATION OF MEMBERSHIP
27.

Any member may at any time resign his or her membership of the USANZ by notice in writing
to the Secretary, and thereupon he or she shall cease to be a member of the USANZ subject
however to the provisions of the Constitution and without prejudice to his or her liability to pay
any amount accrued due to the USANZ prior to his or her ceasing to be a member.

28.

Subject to clause 31 a member of any class who at any time after he or she was elected a
member of that class ceases to possess (other than by reason of retirement from practice)
any of the qualifications prescribed by this Constitution for members of such class shall upon
resolution by the Board of Directors cease to be a member PROVIDED that any Full Member
ceasing to be a Full member by virtue of this clause shall if the Board of Directors so
resolve become a Provisional Member. PROVIDED FURTHER that Full Members or
Provisional Members who have retired from practice shall not by reason only of their having
retired from practice cease to be Full Members or Provisional Members as the case may be.

29.

A member whose annual subscription, and/or any other fees that may be applicable from time
to time, shall have become due and who after the Secretary by registered letter addressed to
his or her address appearing in the Register shall have required him or her to pay such
subscription, fails without reasonable excuse to make such payment on or before the thirtieth
day of November following the date on which such subscription became due, shall cease to
be a member, but may be re-elected by the Board of Directors as such member on payment
of three-hundred and fifty dollars ($350.00) and all subscriptions and fines due to the date of
re-election. A member so re-elected shall not be required to pay any entrance fee.

30.

A member shall: ipso facto cease to be a member if:
(a)

Ipso facto cease to be a member if he or she dies;

(a)(b)

Ipso facto cease to be a member if hHe or she becomes bankrupt or

insolvent or make any assignment of his or her property for the benefit of his or her
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(c)

Ipso facto cease to be a member if he or she commits an indictable offence;

(d)

Subject to board discretion, cease to be a member if:
(A)
he or she brings USANZ into disrepute; or
(B)
conducts affairs for or on behalf of USANZ:
(I)
in breach of Board policy; or
(II)
beyond the delegation of authority granted by the Board, or

(e)
Ipso facto cease to be a member if he or she ceases to be registered as a
medical practitioner except where such ceasing to be registered has been voluntary
on the part of the member (as to which the opinion of the Board of Directors shall be
conclusive) or where the Board of Directors consents to such ceasing to be registered
either prior thereto or within three months thereafter.
A decision made by the USANZ Board under clause 30 is final, in the absence of manifest
error, and cannot be disputed or appealed.

31. No member who for any reason ceases to be a member of the USANZ shall be entitled to
receive nor shall he or she receive a refund of fees or subscriptions paid by him or her to the
USANZ on account of his or her membership.
GENERAL MEETINGS
32.

A General Meeting (to be called the "Annual General Meeting") of the USANZ shall be in
addition to any other meeting be held at least once in every calendar year at such time (not
being more than 15 months after the holding of the last preceding Annual General Meeting)
and place as the Board of Directors may determine. Every General Meeting of the USANZ
other than an Annual General meeting shall be called an "Extraordinary General Meeting".

33. Twenty-one (21) days' notice in writing specifying the place and the date and the hour of a
General Meeting and in the case of special business and the general nature of such a
business shall be given to the members in the manner providing in this Constitution.
34. The business of an Annual General Meeting shall be to receive and consider reports of the
Board of Directors and of the Auditors, to consider any statement of accounts and balance
sheet submitted to the meeting, to endorse the appointment of officers in place of those
retiring, and to transact any other business which under this Constitution ought to be
transacted at an Annual General Meeting and any business which is brought under
consideration by the report of the Board of Directors. All other business transacted at any
Annual General Meeting and all business transacted at any Extraordinary General Meeting
shall be deemed special.
35. No business shall be transacted at any general meeting unless a quorum of members is present
in person which shall not be less than 5% of all Full Members of the USANZ.
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36. If within half an hour from the time appointed for the meeting a quorum of members is not
present a meeting if convened upon the requisition of members shall be dissolved. In any
other case the members present shall constitute a quorum.

37. The President (if any) of the USANZ or, in his or her absence, the Ppast President and/or, in
his or her absence, the Vice-President shall preside at all general meetings. If the President,
the pPast President and the Vice-President are absent from any General Meeting, the
members present shall elect one of their number to be Chairman and the Chairman so
elected shall continue in office until the conclusion of the meeting.
38. Every question submitted to a meeting excepting the election of the Board of Directors shall be
decided in the first instance by a show of hands and in the case of an equality of votes the
Chairman shall both on a show of hands and on a poll have a casting vote in addition to the
vote to which he or she may be entitled to vote on a show of hands.
39. At any general meeting unless a poll is demanded by at least three members entitled to vote, a
declaration by the Chairman that a resolution has been carried or carried by a particular
majority or lost or not carried by a particular majority and an entry to that effect in the Minute
Book shall be conclusive evidence of the fact without proof of the number and proportion of
the votes recorded in favour of or against such resolution.
40. If a poll is demanded as aforesaid it shall be taken in such manner and either by ballot or
otherwise and at such time (not exceeding twenty-eight days from the meeting at which the
same is demanded) and place as the ChairmanChair of the meeting directs; and the result of
the poll shall be deemed to be a resolution of the meeting at which the poll was demanded.
41. The Chairman of a meeting may, with the consent of the meeting, adjourn the same from time
to time and from place to place, but no business shall be transacted at an adjourned meeting
other than the business unfinished at the meeting from which the adjournment took place.
Notice of such adjourned meeting will be sent to members.
42. An Extraordinary General Meeting may be convened by the Board of Directors or the President
at any time and Extraordinary General Meetings may also be convened and held in
accordance with the provisions of the Act.
43. The accidental omission to give notice of a meeting to, or the non-receipt of notice of meeting
by, any member shall not invalidate the proceedings at any meeting.
VOTES OF MEMBERS
44.

Every Fellow, and Full Member and Senior Full Member who is entitled to vote shall have one
vote and no member of any other membership class shall be entitled to vote.

45.

(i) Upon a poll votes may be given either personally or by proxy but no person who is not a
member of the USANZ shall be appointed to act as a proxy and no member of the USANZ
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shall be entitled as a proxy to vote upon any matter upon which he or she is not a member
entitled to vote.
(ii) The instrument appointing a proxy shall be deemed to confer authority to demand or join in
demanding a poll.
(iii) The instrument appointing a proxy and the power of attorney (if any) under which it is
signed or a certified copy of such power of attorney shall be deposited with the Secretary or
the ChairmanChair of the meeting before the person named in such instrument purports to
vote in respect thereof.
(iv) A vote given in accordance with the terms of the instrument of proxy shall be valid
notwithstanding the previous death of the principal or revocation of the proxy in respect of
which the vote is given provided no intimation in writing of the death or revocation shall have
been received by the Secretary or by the ChairmanChair of the meeting before the vote is
given.
(v) Every instrument of proxy whether for a specified meeting or otherwise must be under the
hand of the appointer or his or her attorney duly authorised in writing and may be in the form
or to the effect following:The Urological Society of Australia and New Zealand I ………………………………
member
of
the
above
mentioned
………………………………………………………
or

USANZ
failing

being a

hereby
appoint
him
or
her

…………………………………………………………………. as my proxy to vote for me and on
my behalf at the general meeting of the USANZ to be held on the ……………day of
…………………………. and at any adjournment thereof, As witness my hand this ………….
day of …………………….20……….
BOARD OF DIRECTORS
46. The Board of Directors of the USANZ shall consist of:
(a)
(b)

President;
Vice-President;

(c)

Past President/Honorary Treasurer/Honorary Secretary;

(d)
(e)
(f)(e)

ANZAUS Chair;
Policy Committee Chair/Honorary Secretary;
Board of Urology (BoU) Chair;

(g)(f)
Speciality Elected Royal Australasian College of Surgeons (RACS) ChairCouncillor
(RACS Councillor);
(h)(g)

1

Sectional Representatives ;

1

Those members of the Board of Directors referred to in this clause (a) – (g) shall represent their
respective Section. In the event that each Section is not represented on the Board of Directors by
one or more persons holding an office as referred to in this clause (a) – (g) above, the Board of
Directors in conjunction with the Sections will appoint Sectional representatives in accordance with
clause 58.
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(i)(h)

Two external directors.

47. The first Board of Directors shall take office on 1 July 2009, and thereafter the Board of
Directors shall take office at the Annual General Meeting.

48. The Past President shall be the surviving President who has last held office as President of the
USANZ. The Past President shall also be the Honorary Treasurer of USANZ.
49. Subject to clause 67:
(a)

The position of Past President shall be filled by the person who at the Annual General
Meeting vacates the office of President;

(b)

The position of President shall be filled by the person who at the Annual General
Meeting vacates the office of Vice-President.

50. The Vice-President shall be elected from amongst the membership by the members who are
entitled to vote in accordance with Standing Orders as apply from time to time.
51. Subject to clause 53, the President, Vice-President and Past President/Treasurer may hold
office for a maximum of two consecutive years in each office.
52. By the end of September in each alternate year the President, Past President and VicePresident together with the other members of the Board of Directors will determine by mutual
agreement whether the three office bearers will hold office for a second consecutive year, and
should there be agreement that they do so there will no election for Vice-President.
53. The ANZAUS Chair:
(a)

is to be elected from amongst the membership of ANZAUS by the members of
ANZAUS on or before 31 December every third year for a term of three years;

(b)

will take office at the Annual General Meeting the year following election under this
clause;

(c)

must, every three years vacate his or her office on the Board of Directors, and
ANZAUS must elect another member to fill the position on the Board of Directors;

(d)

may only hold office for a maximum of two consecutive terms.

54. The Policy Committee Chair/Honorary Secretary:
(a)

shall be appointed by the Board of Directors on or before 31 December every third
year for a term of three years;

(b)

will take office at the Annual General Meeting the year following election under this
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clause;
(c)

must, every three years, vacate his or her office and the Board of Directors shall
appoint another member to this office in accordance with this clause;

(d)

may only hold office for two consecutive terms.

55.54. The Board of Urology Chair:
(a)

shall be appointed by thefrom amongst the members of the RACS Training,
Accreditation and Education (TA&E) CommitteeBoard of Urology by the members of
that committee on or before 31 December every second year for a term of two years;

(b)

will take office at the Annual General Meeting the year following election under this
clause;

(c)

must, every two years, vacate his or her office and the members of the Training,
Accreditation and Education CommitteeRACS Board of Urology shall appoint another
member to this office in accordance with this clause;

(d)

may only hold office for two one consecutive terms.

56.55. The RACS ChairCouncillor:
(a)

shall be elected from amongst the RACS members (as managed by RACS or USANZ
from time to time) on or before 31 December every three years for a term of three
years;

(b)

will take office at the Annual General Meeting the year following election under this
clause;

(c)

must, every three years, vacate his or her office and RACS shall elect another of its
members to this office in accordance with this clause;

(d)

may only hold office for two three consecutive terms.

57.56. The Board of Directors will from time to time, in the interest of maintaining principles of
representation, and having regard to roles and skills, appoint Sectional Representatives from
2

one or more Sections to ensure all Ssections are represented on the Board of Directors . The
Sectional Representatives:
(a)

shall be appointed by the Board of Directors on or before 31 December every three
years from amongst those candidates submitted by a Section to the President for a

2

When those persons holding office under clause 47(a) – (g) do not represent all Sections, the Board
of Directors in conjunction with the Sections will appoint Director(s) from those Sections not
represented.
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term of three years;
(b)

will take office at the Annual General Meeting the year following appointment under
this clause;

(c)

must, every three years, vacate their offices and the Board of Directors shall appoint
another member to this office in accordance with this clause;

(d)

may only hold office for two consecutive terms.

58.57. The Board of Directors may, from time to time, appoint two directors who are non-Members of
the USANZ on the basis of need and skills required at any given times (‘external directors’).
The external directors:
(a)

shall be appointed by the Board of Directors on or before 31 December every three
years (subject to annual review of performance and review of the needs of the
USANZ in terms of roles and skills) for a term of three years;

(b)

will take office at the Annual General Meeting the year following appointment under
this clause;

(c)

must, every three years, vacate their offices and the Board of Directors shall appoint
another member to this office in accordance with this clause;

(d)

may only hold office for two consecutive terms.

59.58. Any casual vacancy occurring on the Board of Directors may be filled by the Board of
Directors until the next Annual General Meeting, provided that any person so appointed meets
the relevant criteria for the office of the USANZ that is vacant and the person is willing to act
on the Board of Directors.
POWERS AND DUTIES OF BOARD of DIRECTORS
59. 60The management and control of the USANZ shall be vested in the Board of Directors. who
in addition to the powers and authorities under this Constitution may exercise all such powers
and do all such acts and things as may be exercised or done by the USANZ by virtue of this
Constitution and are not hereby or by Statute expressly directed or required to be exercised or
done by the USANZ in general meeting The Board of Directors may exercise all the powers of
the USANZ except any powers that the Act or this Constitution require to be exercised by the
USANZ in a general meeting (Member Direction) provided that:
(a)
The Member Direction is not inconsistent with the Act or this Constitution;
(b)

No Member Direction invalidates any prior act of the Board of Directors which would

have been valid if the Member Direction had not been given.
but subject to the provisions of any Statute and the provisions of this Constitution and to any
regulations from time to time made by the USANZ in General Meeting PROVIDED that
no regulation so made by the USANZ in General Meeting shall invalidate any prior act
of the Board of Directors which would have been valid if such regulation had not been
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made.
60. Where any member of the Board of Directors is unable to attend a meeting or meetings of the
Board of Directors, he or she shall be entitled to appoint another member of the Board of
Directors to be his or her proxy for such meeting or meetings. The appointment of a proxy
shall be in writing and shall be signed by the member of the Board of Directors. Any proxy
may be limited to any part of a meeting of the Board of Directors or to any specific question
and must be produced at the meeting at which the proxy holder proposes to vote. A proxy
holder shall be entitled to exercise all the rights of the appointer to attend and vote at the
meeting(s) for which he or she is appointed.
61.

The Board of Directors shall have power to censure, suspend or expel any member who:
(a)

shall have been convicted of a felony or misdemeanour;

(b)

who may be considered guilty of dishonourable or disgraceful conduct;

(c)

who shall have failed to observe any of the Constitution;

(d)
shall be guilty of conduct which in the opinion of the Board of Directors is detrimental
to the interests of the USANZ
PROVIDED however that no suspension or expulsion shall be enforced and no censure
passed unless a meeting of the Board of Directors be called for the purpose and two-thirds of
the members of the Board of Directors present in person or by proxy agree to such decision
and that the member concerned shall have first been notified of the matter alleged against
him or her and given an opportunity of being heard in his or her own defence.
62. Any member expelled from the USANZ shall not be eligible for re- election as a member for a
period of at least twelve months and then only upon such terms and conditions as the Board
of Directors may determine.
63. The decision of the Board of Directors as to admission of members, election of Fellows,
termination of membership or exercise of the powers conferred upon the Board of Directors
by clauses 63 and 64 shall be conclusive.
THE SEAL
64. The seal of the USANZ shall not be affixed to any instrument except by the
authority of the President, or in his or her absence the Past President, or in his or absence the
Vice-President and the Chief Executive Officer or such other person as the Board of Directors
may appoint for the purpose.
DISQUALIFICATION OF MEMBER OF BOARD OF DIRECTORS
65. The office of a member of the Board of Directors (including the office of President or
Vice-President if held) shall ipso facto be vacated:
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(a)

If he or she became bankrupt or suspend payment or compound with his or her
creditors.

(b)

If he or she fail to pay his subscriptions for the space of one month or such further
time as the Board of Directors shall allow after the time when the same should have
been paid.

(c)

If he or she be found or declared of unsound mind.

(d)

If he or she shall absent him or her self, without leave, from four consecutive meetings
of the Board of Directors.

(e)

If he or she be removed by the members under the Act.

(f)

If for any reason he or she ceases to be a member of the USANZ.

(g)

If he or she becomes prohibited from being a member of the Board of Directors by
reason of any order made under the provisions of the Act.

(h)

If he or she shall in writing resign such office.

(i)

If he or she holds any office of profit under the USANZ; or

(j)

If he or she is directly or indirectly interested within the meaning of the Act involved in
any contract with the USANZ or participates in the profits of any contract with the
USANZ. Provided however that a member of the Board of Directors shall not vacate
his or her office by reason of his or her being a member of any corporation firm society
or association which has entered into contracts under or done any work for the USANZ
if such corporation firm society or association is among the class of companies
referred to in the last proviso to Clause 4 of the Constitution of the USANZ and if he
or she shall have declared the nature of his or her interest in manner required by the
Act.

66. A member of the Board of Directors shall not vote in respect of any contract in which he or she
is interested or any matter arising therefrom and if he or she does so vote his or her vote shall
not be counted. Provided always that nothing in this Clause shall affect the operation of
Clause 4 of the Constitution of the USANZ.
PROCEEDINGS OF BOARD OF DIRECTORS
67. The Board of Directors may meet together for the dispatch of business, adjourn, and otherwise
regulate their meetings, as they think fit. Questions arising at any meeting shall be decided by
a majority of votes.
68. In a case of an equality of votes the ChairmanChair shall have a second or casting vote.
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69. At any time a member of the Board of Directors may, and the Secretary on the requisition of a
member of the Board of Directors shall, summon a meeting of the Board of Directors.
70. The quorum necessary for the transaction of the business of the Board of Directors shall be the
next whole number above 50% of the number of members comprising the Board of Directors,
that number of persons being present personally or on the telephone.
71. A resolution in writing signed by all the members of the Board of Directors shall be as valid and
effectual as though duly passed at a properly constituted meeting of the Board of Directors.
72. The President, or in his or her absence the past President or (if the latter be absent) the VicePresident shall be ChairmanChair of the meetings of the Board of Directors; but if at any
meeting the ChairmanChair is not present within fifteen minutes after the time appointed for
holding the same, the members of the Board of Directors present may choose one of their
number to be ChairmanChair of the meeting.
73. All acts done by any meeting of the Board of Directors or by any person acting as a member
thereof, shall notwithstanding that it be afterwards discovered that there was some defect in
the appointment of any such Board of Directors or person acting as aforesaid, or that they or
any of them were disqualified, be as valid as if every such person had been duly appointed
and was qualified to be a member of the Board of Directors.
GENERAL
74. Proper records and minutes of all proceedings and resolutions shall be kept, particularly in
respect of Committee, Board of Directors and Members' meetings.
75. The Board of Directors shall cause proper accounts to be kept in respect to all moneys
received and expenditure thereof and the matter in respect of which receipt and expenditure
takes place; all sales and purchases of goods by the USANZ and the assets and liabilities of
the USANZ at all times.
76. The Board of Directors shall cause accounts to be kept as provided by Clause 9 of the
Constitution and shall, in accordance with the Act, cause to be prepared and laid before the
USANZ in general meeting such profit and loss or income and expenditure accounts and
balance sheets and reports as are referred to in that section clause and are applicable to the
USANZ.
77. Auditors shall be appointed and their duties regulated in accordance with the provisions of the
Act and Clause 9 of the Constitution.
78. Every member of the Board of Directors or officer of the USANZ or any person employed by the
USANZ as Auditor shall be indemnified out of the funds of the USANZ against all liability
incurred by him or her as such member of the Board of Directors or officer or Auditor in
defending proceedings, whether civil or criminal, in which judgement is given in his or her
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favour or in which he or she is acquitted, or in connection with any application under the Act in
which relief is granted to him or her by the Court.
79. Notices required to be served by the USANZ or the Board of Directors upon the members may
be served either personally, by leaving the same or by sending them through the post in a
letter addressed to the members at their registered places of abode or by email. All the
members if served by post shall be deemed to have been served at the time when the letter
envelope wrapper or postcard containing the same being properly addressed and put into a
post office would have arrived in due course of post. In the event of any Member not having
his or her place of abode registered then a notice shall be efficiently served on him or her by
being affixed as a general notice in the Registered Office of the USANZ. For the purposes of
this clause "place of abode" shall include any address any Member or Members may specify
for the forwarding of notices including an office or place of business or post office numbered
box.
80. Any such notice including the signature thereto may be wholly or partly typed or printed.
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